
 

 
Sierra County Commission 

Sierra County Commission Chambers  
1712 N. Date Street, Truth or Consequences, NM 87901 

Tuesday November 14th, 2023 
 
 

AMENDED 
ALL MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC WILL BE ABLE TO WATCH AND LISTEN TO THE MEETING VIA: 

(facebook.com/SCEmergencyServices) (Local radio KCHS 101.9) 
 

 
Call to Order: 10:00 AM Regular Meeting 
 
Roll Call:      Travis Day-Chairman                Shelly K. Trujillo-Clerk 

        James E. Paxon-Vice-Chair   Nance, Pato & Stout, LLC-Attorney 
       Hank Hopkins -Commissioner               Amber Vaughn-County Manager 

 
Pledge of Allegiance 
 
New Mexico State Flag Pledge-I salute the flag of the State of New Mexico and the Zia symbol of perfect 
friendship among united cultures. 
 

Introduction of Guests 
 

I. Approval of Agenda 
II. Approval of Minutes  

A. Regular Meeting – October 17th, 2023 
III. Public Comment: Limited to 3 Minutes  
IV. Consent Agenda: 

A. Resolution No. 110-197 Accounts Payables- July-August 
B. Resolution No. 110-198 Budget Adjustments 
C. Resolution No. 110-199 Indigent Claims 
D. Claim of Exemption 23-004 

V. Presentations/Reports: 
A. Years of Service Awards 
B. Department Reports 

VI. Board of Finance: 
A. October Reconciliation  

VII. Election Canvass: 
             (Bd. Convenes as County Canvassing Board) 

A. Canvass of 2023 General Election 
(Bd. Reconvene as Bd. of County Commissioners) 

VIII. Old Business:  
IX. New Business: 

A. Approval to Sponsor Space New Mexico License Plate  
X. Contracts-Agreements-Procurement: 

A. Road-NM DOT Projects- (3) Quotes Per Project-ConTech  
B. Road-CES-A Mountain Construction-LACTF 



 
C. State of New Mexico Department of Finance and Administration Fund 93100 Capital 

Appropriation Project H23-2308 
D. State of New Mexico Department of Finance and Administration Fund 93100 Capital 

Appropriation Project H23-2309 
E. State of New Mexico Department of Finance and Administration Fund 93100 Capital 

Appropriation Project H23-2312 
F. State of New Mexico Department of Finance and Administration Fund 93100 Capital 

Appropriation Project H23-2313 
G. Memorandum of Understanding Between Administrative Office of the Courts and Sierra 

County for the Purpose of Supporting a Cross System Collaboration for Individuals With 
Mental Illnesses or Co-occurring Mental Health and Substance Abuse Disorders Who Come 
Into Contact With the Justice System. 

XI. Resolutions-Ordinances-Proclamations: 
A. Election Officials Proclamation 

XII. Executive Session (Section 10-15 E thru H): 
Pending and Threatened Litigation: 
BoCC v. Woolf 
Coulter v. BoCC 
Personnel 
Real Estate: 

XIII. Open Session Actions from Executive Session:  
A. Direction regarding BoCC v.Woolf 
B. Adjourn 
 

 
Next proposed Scheduled Meeting: Regular Meeting, Tuesday, December 19th, 2023, at 10:00 AM. Items 
for the agenda must be submitted to the Sierra County Administration Office no later than 5:00pm on 
the Monday the week before the meeting. 
 

 
If you are an individual with a disability who is in need of a reader, amplifier, qualified sign language 
interpreter, or any other form of auxiliary aid or service to attend or participate in the hearing or 
meeting please contact the Sierra County Manager, at 1712 N. Date Street, Truth or Consequences, New 
Mexico 87901, phone (575) 894-6215 at least one (1) week prior to the meeting or as soon as possible.  
Public documents, including the agenda and minutes, can be provided in various accessible formats. 
Please contact the Sierra County Manager if a summary or other type of accessible format is needed. 
 
 



 

      
          SIERRA COUNTY COMMISSION 

REGULAR MEETING MINUTES 
        OCTOBER 17, 2023 

 
   

CALL TO ORDER:   10:00 am Regular Meeting  
 

The Sierra County Board of County Commissioners met in Regular Session 
at 10:00 A.M. on Tuesday, October 17, 2023, at the Albert J Lyon Event 
Center, 2953 S Broadway St, Truth or Consequences, New Mexico. 
 

 ROLL CALL: 
 

 Commissioner Travis Day, Chairman 
            Commissioner James Paxon, Vice-Chair 
 Commissioner Hank Hopkins, Member 
  
 Clerk of Board: Shelly K. Trujillo  
 
 County Attorney: David Pato 
           
 County Manager: Amber Vaughn 

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 
 
NEW MEXICO STATE FLAG PLEDGE: 
 
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: 
   
Jocelyn Holguin, Wanda Joan Montoya, Buddy Montoya, Dan Steele, Brett 
Beaty-Wilson & Co, Lauren Chavez-Wilson & Co, Steve Dobrott, Rebecca 
Bartoo, Ernie Armijo, Mike Hearn, Chuck Wentworth-Sentinel, Jessica 
West, Michelle Atwell, Keith Whitney, Kayce Edwards 
             

I. APPROVAL OF AGENDA: 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve the agenda as presented.  
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 
 
A. Regular Meeting-September 13, 2023 
B. Special Meeting-September 15, 2023 
 
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
October17, 2023 
Page 2   

 

 
 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the minutes as 
presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes.  
 

III. PUBLIC COMMENT: LIMITED TO 3 MINUTES 
 
Rebecca Bartoo gave an update on the County Fair.  There were 178 youth 

exhibitors.  $377,000 was raised at the Livestock Sale. 
 

IV. CONSENT AGENDA: 
 
A.  Resolution No. 110-191- Account Payables 
 
B.  Resolution No. 110-192- Budget Adjustments 
 
C.  Resolution No. 110-193- Indigent Claims 
 
D.  Indigent Burial B2023-007 
 
E.  Claim of Exemption #23-003 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Consent Agenda as presented.  
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 

V. PRESENTATIONS/REPORTS: 
 
A.  Years of Service award 
B.  Department Reports 
C.  Fair Ground Update-Wilson Engineering-See Attached 
D.  Non-Profit Museums of Sierra County-Dan Steele with the Geronimo 
springs Museum asked the commission with help sponsoring a bill for a 
specialty license plate. 
E.  Public Proposal for Ordinance Regarding the Loss of Livestock and Pets 
Due to the Attack of Dogs-See Attached 
 

VI. BOARD OF FINANCE: 
 

A.  September Reconciliation 
 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve the April Reconciliation 
as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes.  

 
VII. OLD BUSINESS: 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
October17, 2023 
Page 3   

 

 
VIII. NEW BUSINESS: 

 
A.  Direction to Publish Ordinance 23-005-Codifying the New Mexico Enabling 

Act 
 
   Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Direction to Publish 

Ordinance 23-005-Codifying the New Mexico Enabling Act as presented.  
Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with 
Commissioners District 1-2-3 voting yes.  

 
B.  Direction to Publish Ordinance 23-006-Indigent Healthcare Ordinance 
 
   Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Direction to Publish Ordinance 

23-006-Indigent Healthcare Ordinance as presented. Commission Vice-Chair 
Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 
1-2-3 voting yes. 

 
C.  Road Vacation Request VR23-002 for Portion of Lula Street in Kingston 
 
   Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Road Vacation Request VR23-

002 for Portion of Lula Street in Kingston as presented. Commission Vice-
Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner 
Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 

 
D.  Approval for Year Two of Recruitment/Retention Funding for Sheriff’s 

Department 
 
   Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Approval for Year Two 

of Recruitment/Retention Funding for Sheriff’s Department as presented. 
Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with 
Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 

 
E.  Approval for Law Enforcement Recruiting/Hiring Fund $262,500 Over 

Three Years to Add a Law Enforcement Position 
 
   Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Approval for Law 

Enforcement Recruiting/Hiring Fund $262,500 Over Three Years to Add a 
Law Enforcement Position as presented. Commissioner Hopkins 
SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 
voting yes. 

      
IX. CONTRACTS – AGREEMENTS – PROCUREMENT 

 
A.  Sierra County 23-ZH9304 Grant Agreement 
   



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
October17, 2023 
Page 4   

 

   Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Sierra County 23-ZH9304 
Grant Agreement as presented.  Commission Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED 
the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
B.  Road-State Price Agreement-ABC Concrete-Official Approval 
 
   Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Road-State Price Agreement-

ABC Concrete-Official Approval as presented.  Commission Vice-Chair 
Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 
1-2-3 voting yes. 

 
C.  Facility-State Price Agreement-Don Chalmers Ford-LACTF 
 
   Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Facility-State Price 
Agreement-Don Chalmers Ford-LACTF as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins 
SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 
voting yes. 
 
D.  Wilson Fee Proposal-Fairgrouonds-Task Order #2-Design and Construct 
 
   Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Wilson Fee Proposal-

Fairgrouonds-Task Order #2-Design and Construct as presented.  
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 

 
E.  WTI/TREMCO-Fairgrounds-Restoration and Interior-Note: Quote for 

HVAC-Following Installation-CES 
 
   Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve WTI/TREMCO-

Fairgrounds-Restoration and Interior-Note: Quote for HVAC-Following 
Installation-CES as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the 
motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 

 
F.  Sheriff-State Price Agreement-Don Chalmers Ford-Pending Final 

Agreements 
 
   Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Sheriff-State Price Agreement-

Don Chalmers Ford-Pending Final Agreements as presented.  Commission 
Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with 
Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 

 
G.  Sheriff-State Price Agreement-WAC Upfitters, LLC-Vehicle Accessories-

Pending Final Agreements 
 
   Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Sheriff-State Price Agreement-

WAC Upfitters, LLC-Vehicle Accessories-Pending Final Agreements as 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
October17, 2023 
Page 5   

 

presented.  Commission Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 

 
 

X. RESOLUTIONS – ORDINANCES – PROCLAMATIONS 
 

A.  Resolution No. 110-194-Supporting the New Mexico Trappers 
Association’s Litigation Against the State’s Public Lands Trapping Ban 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution No. 110-194-
Supporting the New Mexico Trappers Association’s Litigation Against the 
State’s Public Lands Trapping Ban as presented.  Commission Vice-Chair 
Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with Commissioner Districts 
1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
B.  Resolution No. 110-195-Resolution Supporting the New Mexico Counties 
2024 Legislative Priorities 
 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Resolution No. 110-195-
Resolution Supporting the New Mexico Counties 2024 Legislative Priorities 
as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
C.  Resolution 110-196-A Resolution Approving the Amended Property Tax 
Rates 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to approve Resolution 110-196-A 
Resolution Approving the Amended Property Tax Rates as presented.  
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried 
with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
D.  Ordinance 23-003-An Ordinance Repealing Sierra County Spinlaunch 
LEDA, Ordinance No. 21-001 
 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Ordinance 23-003-An 
Ordinance Repealing Sierra County Spinlaunch LEDA, Ordinance No. 21-
001 as presented.  Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion 
carried with Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 
E.  Ordinance 23-004-Amendment to Personnel Policy Ordinance 16-009 
 
Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to approve Ordinance 23-004-
Amendment to Personnel Policy Ordinance 16-009 as presented.  
Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Motion carried with 
Commissioner Districts 1-2-3 voting yes. 
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
October17, 2023 
Page 6   

 

 
 

  XI. EXECUTIVE SESSION SECTION (10-15-E THRU H): 
 
   Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to go into Executive Session for 

Personnel, Real Estate, Pending and Threatened Litigation.  Commissioner 
Hopkins SECONDED the motion. Roll call vote was taken with all 
Commissioners present voting yes.   
 
            District 1 – Yes 
 District 2 – Yes 
 District 3 – Yes 

 
            PENDING AND THREATENED LITIGATION: 
                                                                
           PERSONNEL: 
 

A.  County Manager 
      
            REAL ESTATE:  
 
            DISPOSAL OF REAL PROPERTY 
 
            XII. OPEN SESSION ACTIONS FOR EXECUTIVE SESSION: 
 

Commission Vice-Chair Paxon MOVED to come back into Regular Session.  
Commissioner Hopkins SECONDED the motion.  Roll call vote was taken, 
with all Commissioners present voting yes. 

 
 

 DATE AND TIME OF NEXT REGULAR SIERRA COUNTY 
COMMISSION MEETING:  
 
The date and time of the next Regular Sierra County Commission Meeting 
has been scheduled for Tuesday, November 14, 2023 at 10:00 A.M. at the 
Sierra County Commission Chambers at 1712 N Date, Truth or 
Consequences, New Mexico. 
 
Commissioner Hopkins MOVED to adjourn the meeting. Commission Vice-
Chair Paxon SECONDED the motion.    
 
ADJOURNMENT:  
 
There being no further business to come before the Board, Commission 
Chair Day adjourned the meeting.  
 



Sierra County Commission Regular Meeting 
October17, 2023 
Page 7   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Dated this 17th day of October, 2023. 
 
 

 
 
 
 SIERRA COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 
 
 
 
 ________________________________________________________ 
 Commissioner Travis Day, Chairman 
 
 ________________________________________________________ 

Commissioner James E Paxon, Vice-Chairman 
 
________________________________________________________ 
Commissioner Hank Hopkins, Member 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Shelly K Trujillo, County Clerk 
 

   
 











































































































































































State of New Mexico

Shelly K Trujillo
County Clerk
s7s-894-2840

Candace Chovez
County Treasurer

575-894-3s24

Michael Huston
CounQl Assessor

575-894-2589

Tom Pestak
Probate Judge
575-740-4900

401-0-1285
401-0-1260

406-0-1260

lncrease Expense
406-70-2668

401-08-2900
428-00-2096

Coanty of Sierra

1712 N. Date, Suite D
Truth or Consequences, New Mertco 87901

Amber Vaughn, County Manoger
5 7 5-894-62 I 5 voice 57 5-894-9 548 fax

James Paxon
Commissioner
575-894-621 5

Hank Hopkins
Commissioner
575-894-621 5

Travis Day
Commissioner
575-894-62 I s

Joshuq Baker
County Sheriff
575-894-9150

Resolution No. 110-198
A BudgeULine ltem Adjustment Resolution Increase Revenue and Expense in Funds 401 and 406.

Whereas, the Board of Sierra County Commissioners, meeting in regular public session

November 14,2023, deem it necessary to increase in the said line items in the budget;

Whereas, money received from BLM Geothermal Lease, money received from NM Association of Counties

Multi-Line for settlement payment on 2016 Ford Explorer in Sheriff s Department, money received from

Kirikos Family Funeral Home for a burial that the family took care of and new line item in CLLA ;

Thefore Be !t Resolved, that the Sierra County Board of Commissioners hereby move to

lmplement the line item adjustments in the FY 2023-2024 Operating Budget as described below:

lncrease Revenue

General-BLM GeoThermal Lease

Gen era l -Refu nd s/Rei m b u rse ments

I nd i g ent-Refu nds/Rei m b u rse me nts

lndigent-lndigent Burial

Law Enforcement-Capital Outlay
CLLA-Probable Kills

$

$

$

$

$

$

150.88

12,77 4.48

600.00

600.00

12,77 4.48

200,000.00

NEW MEXICO
SIERRA COUN



Passed, Approved and Adopted this 14th day of November 2023.

Board of County Commissioners
Sierra Gounty, New Mexico

Attest: Travis Day, Chairman

James Paxon, Vice-Chairman

Shelly K. Trujillo, County Clerk Hank Hopkins, Member



State of New Mexico County of Sierra 

Shelly Trujillo 
County Clerk 
575-894-2840

Candace Chavez 
County Treasurer 

575-894-3524 

Michael Huston 
County Assessor 

575-894-2589

Tom Pestak 
Probate Judge 

575-894-2840

1712 Date 
Truth or Consequences, New Mexico 87901 

Amber Vaughn County Manager 
575-894-6215 voice 575-894-9548 fax 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

SIERRA COUNTY, NEW NEXICO 
Resolution No. 110-199

Indigent Claims 

Travis Day 
Chairman 

575-894-6215 

William Hopkins 
Commissioner 
575-894-6215 

James Paxon 
Vice-Chairman 
575-894-6215 

Josh Baker 
County Sheriff 
575-894-9150 

WHEREAS·, the Board of Sierra County Commissioners has received Indigent Hospital and Medical 
Claim request for those persons unable to make proper restitution for Medical Services in the amount of 

8820.59 new claims, and; 

WHEREAS, the Sierra County Board of Commissioners desire to provide for the equitable and 
reasonable payment of claims, and; 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the Sierra County Board of Commissioners hereby approve 

payment to those Indigent Hospital Claims in the amount of: 

Sole community Providers in the amount of$ 8820.59 

to be deducted from the proper funds appropriated in the 2023-2024PY Budget. November 14, 2023 

Attest: 

SHELLY K. TRUJILLO 
SIERRA COUNTY CLERK 

Board of County Commissioners 
Sierra County, NM 

TRAVIS DAY, CHAIRMAN 

JAMES PAXON, VICE-CHAIRMAN 

WILLIAM HOPKINS, COMMISSIONER 



SIERRA COI-INTY INDIGENT HEALTH CARE
RESOLUTION NO. 110-

CLAIMS APPROVED FOR $ 8820.59

VENDOR# 12775 LUNA COUNTY DETENTION

VENDOR# 5616 CHETAH SHIVARAM DDS

Total

I S 8s02.13

6 s 318.46

8820.59



OIHS

lssued 11102123

Source Description

Source Totals RePort
CountY Of Sierra

Batch Dates 1 1 t21 12023 through 11 121 12023

For Vendor: All Vendors

Amount Billed Amount Paid

02
07

Jail - ln House lnmate Service
Jail - Dental

8,502.13
329.60

8,502.13
318.46

Source Totals Report Detail
lnvoice #

Expenditures
Reimb/Adjustments

Grand Total

Source

8,831.73 8,820.59

8,831.73 8,820.59

DOS Amount Billed Amount Paid

INMATE*2775*28
INMATE*2775.26
INMATE*2775.26
lNMATE.2775.26
lNMATE"2775.27
lNMATE.2775.27
lNMATE.2775*27
lNMATE.2775.27

3 invoices, 8 line items

02
02
02
02
02
02
02
02

07
07
07
07
07
07
07
07
07
07
07
07
07
07
07
07
07
07
07
07

0110712023
10t1112023
1011112023
1011112023
05/01 12023
06t0112023
0410112023
0610112023

1 10.00
1,302.45
2,082.05
1,804.18

654.45
1,557.99

775.01
216.00

1 10.00
1,302.45
2,082.05
1,804.18

654.45
1,557.99

775.01
216.00

8,502.13 8,502.13

12911.5616*1
1291 1 

*561 6"1
1291 1*5616*1
1 3763*561 6*3
1 3763.5616*3
1 3763.5616*3
1 5480.561 6.1
1 5480.561 6.1
1 5480*5616.1
16408.5616.1
1 6408*561 6*1
1 6408.5616.1
5956.5616.1
5956.5616.1
5956*5616"1
5956.5616.1
12144.5616*3
12144.561 6*3
12144.5616*3
12144"561 6*3

09t07 t2023
0910712023
0910712023
0910712023
09t0712023
09t0712023
0910712023
09t0712023
0910712023
091a712023
0910712023
0910712023
0910712023
0910712023
0910712023
0910712023
0910712023
0910712023
0910712023
0910712023

28.94
11.14
11.14
28.94
11.14
11.14
28.94
11.14
11.14
28.94
11.14
11.14
28.94
11.14
11.14
11.14
28.94
11.14
11.14
11.14

28.94
11.14
11.14
28.94
11.14
11.14
28.94
11.14
11.14
28.94
11.14
11.14
28.94
11.14
11.14
11.14
28.94
11.14
11.14
0.00

6 invoices, 20 line items 329.60 318.46

Grand Totals

9 invoices listed.
28 line items Iisted.

9,831.73 8,820.59























































































Page 1 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

STATE OF NEW MEXICO 
DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 

FUND 93100 CAPITAL APPROPRIATION PROJECT 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between the Department Finance and 
Administration, State of New Mexico, Bataan Memorial Building, Room 202, Santa Fe, New Mexico, 87501, 
hereinafter called the “Department” or abbreviation such as “DFA/LGD”, and Sierra County, hereinafter 
called the “Grantee”.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the date it is executed by the Department. 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, in the Laws of 2023, Chapter 199, Section 28, Paragraph 454, the Legislature made an 
appropriation to the Department, funds from which the Department is making available to the Grantee pursuant 
to this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Department is granting to Grantee, and the Grantee is accepting the grant of, funds 
from this appropriation, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Sections 9-6-5 and 9-6-5.1 NMSA 1978, the Secretary of the Department of Finance 
and Administration has the power and the authority to (i) maintain long-range estimates and plans for capital projects and 
develop standards for measuring the need for, and utility of, proposed projects; (ii) contract for, receive and 
utilize any grants or other financial assistance made available by the United States government or by any other 
source, public or private; (iii) provide planning and funding assistance to units of local government, council of 
government organizations, Indian tribal governments situated within New Mexico, and to nonprofit entities 
having for their purpose local, regional or community betterment; (iv) incident to any such programs, may enter 
into contracts and agreements with such units of local government, council of government organizations, Indian 
tribal governments, nonprofit entities and the federal government; and (v) delegate such authority to the Local 
Government Division as being necessary and appropriate to such delegation. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and obligations contained herein, the 
parties hereby mutually agree as follows:  

ARTICLE I.  PROJECT DESCRIPTION, AMOUNT OF GRANT AND REVERSION DATE 

A. The project that is the subject of this Agreement is described as follows:

23-H3208 $200,000.00  APPROPRIATION REVERSION DATE:  June 30, 2025 

Laws of 2023, Chapter 199, Section 28, Paragraph 454, Two Hundred Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents 
($200,000.00), to purchase and equip law enforcement vehicles for the sheriff's department in Sierra county; 



Page 2 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

The Grantee’s total reimbursements shall not exceed Two Hundred Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents 
$200,000.00 (the “Appropriation Amount”) minus the allocation for Art in Public Places (“AIPP amount”)9, if 
applicable, Zero Dollars and Zero Cents $0.00, which equals Two Hundred Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents 
$200,000.00 (the “Adjusted Appropriation Amount”). 

In the event of a conflict among the Appropriation Amount, the Reversion Date, as defined herein and/or the 
purpose of the Project, as set forth in this Agreement, and the corresponding appropriation language in the laws 
cited above in this Article I(A), the language of the laws cited herein shall control.    

This project is referred to throughout the remainder of this Agreement as the “Project”; the information 

contained in Article I(A) is referred to collectively throughout the remainder of this Agreement as the “Project 

Description.”  [OPTIONAL LANGUAGE: “Optional Attachment A sets forth additional or more stringent 

requirements and conditions, which are incorporated by this reference as if set forth fully herein. If Optional 
Attachment A imposes more stringent requirements than any requirement set forth in this Agreement, the more 
stringent requirements of Attachment A shall prevail, in the event of irreconcilable conflict.] The Grantee shall 
reference the Project's number in all correspondence with and submissions to the Department concerning the 
Project, including, but not limited to, Requests for Payment and reports. 

ARTICLE II. LIMITATION ON DEPARTMENT’S OBLIGATION TO MAKE GRANT 

DISBURSEMENT TO GRANTEE  

A. Upon the Effective Date of this Agreement, for permissible purposes within the scope of the Project
Description, the Grantee shall only be reimbursed monies for which the Department has issued and the Grantee 
has received a Notice of Department’s Obligation to Reimburse10 Grantee (hereinafter referred to as “Notice of 

Obligation”).  This Grant Agreement and the disbursement of any and all amounts of the above referenced 

Adjusted Appropriation Amount are expressly conditioned upon the following: 
(i) Irrespective of any Notice of Obligation, the Grantee’s expenditures shall be made on or before the

Reversion Date and, if applicable, an Early Termination Date (i.e., the goods have been delivered and
accepted or the title to the goods has been transferred to the Grantee and/or the services have been
rendered for the Grantee); and

(ii) The total amount received by the Grantee shall not exceed the lesser of: (a) the Adjusted Appropriation
Amount identified in Article I(A) herein or (b) the total of all amounts stated in the Notice(s) of
Obligation evidencing that the Department has received and accepted the Grantee’s Third Party

Obligation(s), as defined in subparagraph iii of this Article II(A); and
(iii)The Grantee’s expenditures were made pursuant to the State Procurement Code and execution of binding

written obligations or purchase orders with third party contractors or vendors for the provision of
services, including professional services, or the purchase of tangible personal property and real property
for the Project, hereinafter referred to as “Third Party Obligations”; and

(iv) The Grantee’s submittal of timely Requests for Payment in accordance with the procedures set forth in

Article IX of this Agreement; and

9  The AIPP amount is “an amount of money equal to one percent or two hundred thousand dollars ($200,000), whichever is less, of 
the amount of money appropriated for new construction or any major renovation exceeding one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000).” 

Section 13-4A-4 NMSA 1978.  
10 “Reimburse” as used throughout this Agreement includes Department payments to the Grantee for invoices received, but not yet 

paid, by the Grantee from a third party contractor or vendor, if the invoices comply with the provisions of this Agreement and are a 
valid liability of the Grantee. 



Page 3 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

(v) In the event that capital assets acquired with Project funds are to be sold, leased, or licensed to or
operated by a private entity, the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement:

a. must be approved by the applicable oversight entity (if any) in accordance with law; or
b. if no oversight entity is required to approve the transaction, the Department must approve the

transaction as complying with law.
Prior to the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement being approved pursuant to Articles II(A)(v)(a) 
and II(A)(v)(b) herein, the Department may, in its sole and absolute discretion and unless inconsistent 
with State Board of Finance imposed conditions, reimburse the Grantee for necessary expenditures 
incurred to develop the Project sufficiently to make the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement 
commercially feasible, such as plan and design expenditures; and 

(vi) The Grantee’s submission of documentation of all Third Party Obligations and amendments thereto
(including terminations) to the Department and the Department’s issuance and the Grantee’s receiving of

a Notice of Obligation for a particular amount in accordance with the terms of this Agreement shall be
governed by the following:

a. The Grantee shall submit to the Department one copy of all Third Party Obligations and
amendments thereto (including terminations) as soon as possible after execution by the Third
Party but prior to execution by the Grantee.

b. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that if it chooses to enter into a Third Party Obligation prior
to receiving a Notice of Obligation that covers the expenditure, it is solely responsible for
such obligations.

c. The Department may, in its sole and absolute discretion, issue to Grantee a Notice of
Obligation for the particular amount of that Third Party Obligation that only obligates the
Department to reimburse Grantee’s expenditures made on or before the Reversion Date or an
Early Termination Date.  The current Notice of Obligation form is attached to this Agreement
as Exhibit 2.

d. The date the Department signs the Notice of Obligation is the date that the Department’s

Notice of Obligation is effective. After that date, the Grantee is authorized to budget the
particular amount set forth in the Notice of Obligation, execute the Third Party Obligation and
request the Third Party to begin work. Payment for any work performed or goods received
prior to the effective date of the Notice of Obligation is wholly and solely the obligation of the
Grantee.

B. The Grantee shall implement, in all respects, the Project. The Grantee shall provide all necessary
qualified personnel, material, and facilities to implement the Project. The Grantee shall finance its share (if any) 
of the costs of the Project, including all Project overruns. 

C. Project funds shall not be used for purposes other than those specified in the Project Description.

D. Unless specifically allowed by law, Project funds cannot be used to reimburse Grantee for indirect
Project costs. 

ARTICLE III.  NOTICE PROVISIONS AND GRANTEE AND DEPARTMENT DESIGNATED 
REPRESENTATIVES 

Whenever written notices, including written decisions, are to be given or received, related to this Agreement, 
the following provisions shall apply. 



Page 4 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

The Grantee designates the person(s) listed below, or their successor, as their official representative(s) 
concerning all matters related to this Agreement: 

Grantee: Sierra County   
Name: Amber Vaughn  
Title: County Manager 
Address: 1712 N. Date St., Suite D Truth or Consequences NM 87901 
Email: avaughn@sierraco.org   
Telephone: 575-894-6215

The Grantee designates the person(s) listed below, or their successor, as their Fiscal Officer or Fiscal Agent 
concerning all matters related to this Agreement: 

Grantee: Sierra County   
Name: Jay Armijo 
Title: Executive Director 
Address: PO Box 1072 Elephant Butte NM 87935 
Email: jarmijo@sccog-nm.com  
Telephone: 575-744-4857

The Department designates the persons listed below, or their successors, as the Points of Contact for matters 
related to this Agreement.  

Department: Department of Finance and Administration  
Name: Alison Gillette  
Title Project Manager 
Address: Bataan Memorial Blvd. Room 202, Santa Fe NM 87501 
Email: Alison.Gillette@dfa.nm.gov  
Telephone: 505-469-7811

The Grantee and the Department agree that either party shall send all notices, including written decisions, 
related to this Agreement to the above named persons by email or regular mail. In the case of mailings, notices 
shall be deemed to have been given and received upon the date of the receiving party’s actual receipt or five 

calendar days after mailing, whichever shall first occur. In the case of email transmissions, the notice shall be 
deemed to have been given and received on the date reflected on the delivery receipt of email.   

ARTICLE IV.  REVERSION DATE, TERM, DEADLINE TO EXPEND FUNDS 

A. As referenced in Article I(A), the applicable law establishes a date by which Project funds must be
expended by Grantee, which is referred to throughout the remainder of this Agreement as the “Reversion Date.”  

Upon being duly executed by both parties, this Agreement shall be effective as of the date of execution by the 
Department. It shall terminate on June 30, 2025 the Reversion Date unless Terminated Before Reversion Date 
(“Early Termination”) pursuant to Article V herein. 

mailto:avaughn@sierraco.org
mailto:jarmijo@sccog-nm.com
mailto:Alison.Gillette@dfa.nm.gov


Page 5 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

B. The Project’s funds must be expended on or before the Reversion Date and, if applicable, Early

Termination Date of this Agreement. For purposes of this Agreement, it is not sufficient for the Grantee to 
encumber the Project funds on its books on or before the Project's Reversion Date or Early Termination Date. 
Funds are expended and an expenditure has occurred as of the date that a particular quantity of goods are 
delivered to and received by the Grantee or title to the goods is transferred to the Grantee and/or as of the date 
particular services are rendered for the Grantee.  Funds are not expended and an expenditure has not occurred 
as of the date they are encumbered by the Grantee pursuant to a contract or purchase order with a third party.   

ARTICLE V. EARLY TERMINATION 

A. Early Termination Before Reversion Date Due to Completion of the Project or Complete
Expenditure of the Adjusted Appropriation or Violation of this Agreement  

Early Termination includes: 
(i) Termination due to completion of the Project before the Reversion Date; or
(ii) Termination due to complete expenditure of the Adjusted Appropriation Amount before the

Reversion Date; or
(iii) Termination for violation of the terms of this Agreement; or
(iv) Termination for suspected mishandling of public funds, including but not limited to, fraud, waste,

abuse, and conflicts of interest.

Either the Department or the Grantee may early terminate this Agreement prior to the Reversion Date by 
providing the other party with a minimum of fifteen (15) days’ advance, written notice of early termination. 

Grantee hereby waives any rights to assert an impairment of contract claim against the Department or the State 
of New Mexico in the event of Early Termination of this Agreement by the Department pursuant to Article 
V(A). 

B. Early Termination Before Reversion Date Due to Non-appropriation
The terms of this Agreement are expressly made contingent upon sufficient appropriations and

authorization being made by the Legislature of New Mexico for the performance of this Agreement.  
Throughout this Agreement the term “non-appropriate” or “non-appropriation” includes the following actions 

by the New Mexico Legislature:  deauthorization, reauthorization or revocation of a prior authorization.  The 
Legislature may choose to non-appropriate the Appropriation referred to in Article I and, if that occurs, the 
Department shall early terminate this Agreement for non-appropriation by giving the Grantee written notice of 
such termination, and such termination shall be effective as of the effective date of the law making the non-
appropriation. The Department’s decision as to whether sufficient appropriations or authorizations are available 

shall be accepted by the Grantee and shall be final. Grantee hereby waives any rights to assert an impairment of 
contract claim against the Department or the State of New Mexico in the event of Early Termination of this 
Agreement by the Department pursuant to Article V(B). 

C. Limitation on Department’s Obligation to Make Grant Disbursements to Grantee in the Event

of Early Termination 
In the event of Early Termination of this Agreement by either party, the Department’s sole and absolute 

obligation to reimburse the Grantee is expressly conditioned upon the limitations set forth Article II.  

ARTICLE VI. SUSPENSION OF NEW OR FURTHER OBLIGATIONS 



Page 6 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

A. The Department may choose, in its sole and absolute discretion, to provide written notice to the Grantee
to suspend entering into new and further obligations. Upon the receipt of such written notice by the Grantee: 

(i) The Grantee shall immediately suspend entering into new or further written obligations with third
parties; and

(ii) The Department will suspend the issuance of any new or further Notice of Obligation under this
Agreement; and

(iii) The Department may direct the Grantee to implement a corrective action plan in accordance with
Article VI(D) herein.

B. In the event of Suspension of this Agreement, the Department’s sole and absolute obligation to
reimburse the Grantee is expressly conditioned upon the limitations set forth in Article II herein. 

C. A suspension of new or further obligations under this Agreement shall remain in effect unless or until
the date the Grantee receives written notice given by the Department informing the Grantee that the Suspension 
has been lifted or that the Agreement has been Early Terminated in accordance with Article V herein.  If the 
Suspension is lifted, the Department will consider further requests for Notice of Obligation. 

D. Corrective Action Plan in the Event of Suspension
In the event that the Department chooses, in its sole and absolute discretion to direct the Grantee to suspend 

entering into new or further written obligations with third parties pursuant to Article VI(A), the Department 
may, but is not obligated to, require the Grantee to develop and implement a written corrective action plan to 
remedy the grounds for the Suspension. Such corrective action plan must be approved by the Department and be 
signed by the Grantee. Failure to sign a corrective action plan or meet the terms and deadlines set forth in the 
signed corrective action plan, is hereby deemed a violation of the terms of this Agreement for purposes of Early 
Termination, Article V(A)(iii). The corrective action plan is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other 
equitable or legal remedy, including but not limited to Early Termination. 

ARTICLE VII. AMENDMENT 

This Agreement shall not be altered, changed, or amended except by instrument in writing duly executed 
by both the parties hereto. 

ARTICLE VIII.  REPORTS 

A. Database Reporting
The Grantee shall report quarterly Project activity by entering such Project information as the Department and the

Department of Finance and Administration may require, such information entered directly into a database maintained by 
the Department of Finance and Administration (Budget & Formulation Management System). Additionally, the Grantee 
shall certify on the Request for Payment form (Exhibit 1) that updates have been maintained and are current in the 
database. The Grantee hereby acknowledges that failure to perform and/or certify updates into the database will delay or 
potentially jeopardize the reimbursement of funds. The Department shall give Grantee a minimum of thirty (30) days’ 

advance written notice of any changes to the information the Grantee is required to report.  

Quarterly reports shall be due on the last day of the month that is 30 days prior to the end of the quarter following 
execution of this Agreement by the Department and ending during the quarter of the submission of the final request for 
reimbursement for the Project, or the following quarter. 



Page 7 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

B. Requests for Additional Information/Project Inspection
During the term of this Agreement and during the period of time during which the Grantee must

maintain records pursuant to Article VIII, the Department may: 
(i) request such additional information regarding the Project as it deems necessary; and
(ii) conduct, at reasonable times and upon reasonable notice, onsite inspections of the Project.
Grantee shall respond to such requests for additional information within a reasonable period of time, as
established by the Department.



Page 8 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

ARTICLE IX. REQUEST FOR PAYMENT PROCEDURES AND DEADLINES 

A. The Grantee shall request payment by submitting a Request for Payment, in the form attached hereto
as Exhibit 1. Payment requests are subject to the following procedures: 

(i) The Grantee must submit a Request for Payment; and
(ii) Each Request for Payment must contain proof of payment by the Grantee or liabilities incurred by

the Grantee showing that the expenditures are valid or are liabilities incurred by the Grantee in
the form of actual unpaid invoices received by the Grantee for services rendered by a third party
or items of tangible personal property received by the Grantee for the implementation of the
Project; provided, however, that the Grantee may be reimbursed for unpaid liabilities only if the
Department, in its sole and absolute discretion, agrees to do so and in accordance with any special
conditions imposed by the Department.

(iii) In cases where the Grantee is submitting a Request for Payment to the Department based upon
invoices received, but not yet paid, by the Grantee from a third party contractor or vendor, if the
invoices comply with the provisions of this Agreement and are a valid liability of the Grantee, the
Grantee shall make payment to those contractors or vendors within five (5) business days from
the date of receiving reimbursement from the Department or such shorter period of time as the
Department may prescribe in writing. The Grantee is required to certify to the Department proof
of payment to the third party contractor or vendor within ten (10) business days from the date of
receiving reimbursement from the Department.

B. The Grantee must obligate 5% of the Adjusted Appropriation Amount within six months of
acceptance of the grant agreement and must have expended no less than 85% of the Adjusted
Appropriation Amount six months prior to the reversion date.

C. Deadlines
Requests for Payments shall be submitted by Grantee to the Department on the earlier of:

(i) Immediately as they are received by the Grantee but at a minimum thirty (30) days from when the
expenditure was incurred or liability of the Grantee was approved as evidenced by an unpaid
invoice received by the Grantee from a third party contractor or vendor; or

(ii) Twenty (20) days from date of Early Termination; or
(iii) Twenty (20) days from the Reversion Date.

D. The Grantee’s failure to abide by the requirements set forth in Article II and Article IX herein will

result in the denial of its Request for Payment or will delay the processing of Requests for Payment. The 
Department has the right to reject a payment request for the Project unless and until it is satisfied that the 
expenditures in the Request for Payment are for permissible purposes within the meaning of the Project 
Description and that the expenditures and the Grantee are otherwise in compliance with this Agreement, 
including but not limited to, compliance with the reporting requirements and the requirements set forth in 
Article II herein to provide Third Party Obligations and the Deadlines set forth in Article IX herein. The 
Department's ability to reject any Request for Payment is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other legal or 
equitable remedy available to the Department due to Grantee's violation of this Agreement.  



Page 9 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

ARTICLE X.  PROJECT CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS; REPRESENTATIONS AND 
WARRANTIES 

A. The following general conditions and restrictions are applicable to the Project:
(i) The Project’s funds must be spent in accordance with all applicable state laws, regulations,

policies, and guidelines, including, but not limited to, the State Procurement Code (or local
procurement ordinance, where applicable).

(ii) The Project must be implemented in accordance with the New Mexico Public Works Minimum
Wage Act, Section 13-4-10 through 13-4-17 NMSA 1978, as applicable.  Every contract or
project in excess of sixty thousand dollars ($60,000) that the Grantee is a party to for
construction, alteration, demolition or repair or any combination of these, including painting and
decorating, of public buildings, public works or public roads and that requires or involves the
employment of mechanics, laborers or both shall contain a provision stating the minimum wages
and fringe benefits to be paid to various classes of laborers and mechanics, shall be based upon
the wages and benefits that will be determined by the New Mexico Department of Workforce
Solutions to be prevailing for the corresponding classes of laborers and mechanics employed on
contract work of a similar nature in the locality. Further, every contract or project shall contain a
stipulation that the contractor, subcontractor, employer or a person acting as a contractor shall
pay all mechanics and laborers employed on the site of the project, unconditionally and not less
often than once a week and without subsequent unlawful deduction or rebate on any account, the
full amounts accrued at time of payment computed at wage rates and fringe benefit rates not less
than those determined pursuant to Section 13-4-11 (B) NMSA 1978 to be the prevailing wage
rates and prevailing fringe benefit rates issued for the project.

(iii) The Project may only benefit private entities in accordance with applicable law, including, but
not limited to, Article IX, Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of New Mexico, the “Anti-
Donation Clause.”

(iv) The Grantee shall not for a period of 10 years  from the date of this agreement convert any
property acquired, built, renovated, repaired, designed or developed with the Project’s funds to

uses other than those specified in the Project Description without the Department's and the Board
of Finance’s express, advance, written approval, which may include a requirement to reimburse

the State for the cost of the project, transfer proceeds from the disposition of property to the
State, or otherwise provide consideration to the State.

(v) The Grantee shall comply with all federal and state laws, rules and regulations pertaining to
equal employment opportunity. In accordance with all such laws, rules and regulations the
Grantee agrees to assure that no person shall, on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex,
sexual preference, age or handicap, be excluded from employment with Grantee, be excluded
from participation in the Project, be denied benefits or otherwise be subject to discrimination
under, any activity performed under this Agreement. If Grantee is found to be not in compliance
with these requirements during the life of this Agreement, Grantee agrees to take appropriate
steps to correct any deficiencies. The Grantee's failure to implement such appropriate steps
within a reasonable time constitutes grounds for terminating this Agreement.

B. The Grantee hereby represents and warrants the following:
(i) The Grantee has the legal authority to receive and expend the Project’s funds.



Page 10 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

(ii) This Agreement has been duly authorized by the Grantee, the person executing this Agreement
has authority to do so, and, once executed by the Grantee, this Agreement shall constitute a
binding obligation of the Grantee, enforceable according to its terms.

(iii) This Agreement and the Grantee's obligations hereunder do not conflict with any law or
ordinance or resolution applicable to the Grantee, the Grantee's charter (if applicable), or any
judgment or decree to which the Grantee is subject.

(iv) The Grantee has independently confirmed that the Project Description, including, but not limited
to, the amount and Reversion Date, is consistent with the underlying appropriation in law.

(v) The Grantee’s governing body has duly adopted or passed as an official act a resolution, motion,
or similar action authorizing the person identified as the official representative of the Grantee to
sign the Agreement and to sign Requests for Payment.

(vi) The Grantee shall abide by New Mexico laws regarding conflicts of interest, governmental
conduct and whistleblower protection.  The Grantee specifically agrees that no officer or
employee of the local jurisdiction or its designees or agents, no member of the governing body,
and no other public official of the locality who exercises any function or responsibility with
respect to this Grant, during their tenure or for one year thereafter, shall have any interest, direct
or indirect, in any contract or subcontract, or the proceeds thereof, for work to be performed or
goods to be received, pursuant to this Grant.  Further, Grantee shall require all of its contractors
to incorporate in all subcontracts the language set forth in this paragraph prohibiting conflicts of
interest.

(vii) No funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the Grantee, to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of this or any agency or body in
connection with the awarding of any Third Party Obligation and that the Grantee shall require
certifying language prohibiting lobbying to be included in the award documents for all
subawards, including subcontracts, loans and cooperative agreements.  All subrecipients shall be
required to certify accordingly.

ARTICLE XI.  STRICT ACCOUNTABILITY OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS; PROJECT 
RECORDS 

A. The Grantee shall be strictly accountable for receipts and disbursements relating to the Project’s

funds. The Grantee shall follow generally accepted accounting principles, and, if feasible, maintain a separate 
bank account or fund with a separate organizational code, for the funds to assure separate budgeting and 
accounting of the funds. 

B. For a period of six (6) years following the Project's completion, the Grantee shall maintain all Project
related records, including, but not limited to, all financial records, requests for proposals, invitations to bid, 
selection and award criteria, contracts and subcontracts, advertisements, minutes of pertinent meetings, as well 
as records sufficient to fully account for the amount and disposition of the total funds from all sources budgeted 
for the Project, the purpose for which such funds were used, and such other records as the Department shall 
prescribe. 

C. The Grantee shall make all Project records available to the Department, the Department of Finance
and Administration, and the New Mexico State Auditor upon request.  With respect to the funds that are the 
subject of this Agreement, if the State Auditor or the Department of Finance and Administration finds that any 



Page 11 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

or all of these funds were improperly expended, the Grantee may be required to reimburse to the State of New 
Mexico, to the originating fund, any and all amounts found to be improperly expended.  

ARTICLE XII.  IMPROPERLY REIMBURSED FUNDS 

If the Department determines that part or all of the Appropriation Amount was improperly reimbursed to 
Grantee, including but not limited to, Project funds reimbursed to Grantee based upon fraud, mismanagement, 
misrepresentation, misuse, violation of law by the Grantee, or violation of this Agreement, the Grantee shall 
return such funds to the Department for disposition in accordance with law. 

ARTICLE XIII. LIABILITY 

Neither party shall be responsible for liability incurred as a result of the other party's acts or omissions in 
connection with this Agreement. Any liability incurred in connection with this Agreement is subject to 
immunities and limitations of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act. 

ARTICLE XIV.  SCOPE OF AGREEMENT 

This Agreement constitutes the entire and exclusive agreement between the Grantee and Department concerning 
the subject matter hereof. The Agreement supersedes any and all prior or contemporaneous agreements, 
understandings, discussions, communications, and representations, written or verbal. 

ARTICLE XV.  REQUIRED NON-APPROPRIATIONS CLAUSE IN CONTRACTS FUNDED IN 
WHOLE OR PART BY FUNDS MADE AVAILABLE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT 

The Grantee acknowledges, warrants, and agrees that Grantee shall include a “non-appropriations” clause in all 

contracts between it and other parties that are (i) funded in whole or part by funds made available under this 
Agreement and (ii) entered into after the effective date of this Agreement that states: 

“The terms of this Agreement are contingent upon sufficient appropriations and authorization being made by 

the Legislature of New Mexico for the performance of this Agreement. If sufficient appropriations and 
authorization are not made by the Legislature, the Sierra County may immediately terminate this Agreement 
by giving Contractor written notice of such termination. The Sierra County’s decision as to whether sufficient 
appropriations are available shall be accepted by the Contractor and shall be final. Contractor hereby waives 
any rights to assert an impairment of contract claim against the Sierra County or the Department of Finance 
and Administration or the State of New Mexico in the event of immediate or Early Termination of this 
Agreement by the Sierra County or the “Department.”   

ARTICLE XVI.  REQUIRED TERMINATION CLAUSE IN CONTRACTS FUNDED IN WHOLE OR 
PART BY FUNDS MADE AVAILABLE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT 

Grantee acknowledges, warrants, and agrees that Grantee shall include the following termination clause in all 
contracts that are (i) funded in whole or part by funds made available under this Agreement and (ii) entered into 
after the effective date of this Agreement: 



Page 12 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

“This contract is funded in whole or in part by funds made available under a Department of Finance and 
Administration Grant Agreement.  Should the Department of Finance and Administration early terminate the 
grant agreement, the Sierra County may early terminate this contract by providing Contractor written notice of 
such termination.  In the event of termination pursuant to this paragraph, the Sierra County only liability shall 
be to pay Contractor for acceptable goods delivered and services rendered before the termination date.”   

Grantee hereby waives any rights to assert an impairment of contract claim against the Department or the State 
of New Mexico in the event of Early Termination of this Agreement by the Department. 

ARTICLE XVII. COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORM FUNDING CRITERIA. 

A. Throughout the term of this Agreement, Grantee shall:
1. submit all reports of annual audits and agreed upon procedures required by Section 12-6-

3(A)-(B) NMSA 1978 by the due dates established in 2.2.2 NMAC, reports of which must be a public record 
pursuant to Section 12-6-5(A) NMSA 1978 within forty-five days of delivery to the State Auditor;  

2. have a duly adopted budget for the current fiscal year approved by its budgetary oversight
agency (if any); 

3. timely submit all required financial reports to its budgetary oversight agency (if any); and
4. have adequate accounting methods and procedures to expend grant funds in accordance

with applicable law and account for and safeguard grant funds and assets acquired by grant funds. 

B. In the event Grantee fails to comply with the requirements of Paragraph A of this Article XVII,
the Department may take one or more of the following actions: 

1. suspend new or further obligations pursuant to Article VI(A) of this Agreement;
2. require the Grantee to develop and implement a written corrective action plan pursuant to

Article VI(D) of this Agreement to remedy the non-compliance; 
3. impose special grant conditions to address the non-compliance by giving the Grantee

notice of such special conditions in accordance with Article III of this Agreement; the special conditions shall 
be binding and effective on the date that notice is deemed to have been given pursuant to Article III; or 

4. terminate this Agreement pursuant to Article V(A) of this Agreement.

ARTICLE XVIII.  [OPTIONAL IF THE APPROPRIATION IS FUNDED BY SEVERANCE TAX 
BONDS OR GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS] SEVERANCE TAX BOND AND GENERAL 
OBLIGATION BOND PROJECT CLAUSES 

A. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that the underlying appropriation for the Project is a severance tax
bond or general obligation bond appropriation, and that the associated bond proceeds are administered by the 
New Mexico State Board of Finance (SBOF), an entity separate and distinct from the Department.  Grantee 
acknowledges and agrees that (i) it is Grantee’s sole and absolute responsibility to determine through SBOF 
staff what (if any) conditions are currently imposed on the Project; (ii) the Department’s failure to inform 
Grantee of a SBOF imposed condition does not affect the validity or enforceability of the condition; (iii) the 
SBOF may in the future impose further or different conditions upon the Project; (iv) all SBOF conditions are 
effective without amendment of this Agreement; (v) all applicable SBOF conditions must be satisfied before the 
SBOF will release to the Department funds subject to the condition(s); and (vi) the Department’s obligation to 

reimburse Grantee from the Project is contingent upon the then current SBOF conditions being satisfied. 



Page 13 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

B. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that the SBOF may in its sole and absolute discretion remove a
project’s assigned bond proceeds if the project doesn’t proceed sufficiently. Entities must comply with the 

requirement to encumber five percent (5%) of Project funds within six months of bond issuance as certified by 
the grantee in the Bond Questionnaire and Certification documents submitted to the SBOF. Failure to comply 
may result in the bond proceeds reassignment to a new ready project. If this should occur this grant agreement 
will be suspended until the entity has demonstrated readiness as determined by the SBOF and the Department.  

C. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that this Agreement is subject to the SBOF’s Bond Project

Disbursements rule, NMAC 2.61.6, as may be amended or re-codified. The rule provides definitions and 
interpretations of grant language for the purpose of determining whether a particular activity is allowable under 
the authorizing language of the agreement.  

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY] 



Page 14 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the date of execution 
by the Department. 
GRANTEE 

___________________________________________ 
Signature of Official with Authority to Bind Grantee 

___________________________________________ 
Entity Name 

By: ________________________________________ 
 (Type or Print Name) 

Its: ________________________________________ 
(Type or Print Title) 

___________________________________________ 
Date 

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 

___________________________________________ 
By:  

Its: Division Director 

___________________________________________ 
Date 



I. Grantee Information II. Payment Computation
A. Payment Request No.

A. Grantee: B. Grant Amount:

B. Address: C. AIPP Amount (If Applicable) :

D. Funds Requested to Date:

E. Amount Requested this Payment:

F. Reversion Amount (If Applicable ):

G. Grant Balance:C. Contact Name/Phone #:

D. Grant No: H. GF   GOB    STB (attach wire if first draw )

E. Project Title: I. Final Request for Payment (if Applicable )

F.

(The State of NM Fiscal Year is July 1, 20XX through June 30, 20XX of the following year)

IV.

V.

Grantee Fiscal Officer     Grantee Representative  
or Fiscal Agent (if applicable )

Printed Name Printed Name

Date: Date:

Vendor Code: Fund No.: Loc No.:

I certify that the State Agency financial and vendor file information agree with the above submitted information.

Division Fiscal Officer Date Division Project Manager Date

(State Agency Use Only)

Reporting Certification: I hereby certify to the best of my knowledge and belief, that database reporting is up to date; to include the accuracy of 
expenditures and grant balance, project status, project phase, achievements and milestones; and in compliance with Article VIII of the Capital Outlay Grant 
Agreement.

III. Fiscal Year :

STATE OF NEW MEXICO 
CAPITAL GRANT PROJECT
 Request for Payment Form 

Exhibit 1

       (Make sure information is complete & accurate)

(Complete Mailing, including Suite, if applicable)

Grant Expiration Date:

Compliance Certification: Under penalty of law, I hereby certify to the best of my knowledge and belief, the above information is correct; 
expenditures are properly documented, and are valid expenditures or actual receipts; and that the grant activity is in full compliance with Article IX, Sec. 14 of the 
New Mexico Constitution known as the "anti donation" clause.

City, State, Zip

September 2014



NOTICE OF OBLIGATION TO REIMBURSE GRANTEE 
EXHIBIT 2

Notice of Obligation to Reimburse Grantee # ___________   

DATE: ____________________________ 

TO:   Department Representative: _____________________________, _________________________ 

FROM: Grantee Entity: _________________________________________________________________ 

Grantee Official Representative:_____________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Notice of Obligation to Reimburse Grantee      

Grant Number: ________________________________________________________________ 

Grant Termination Date: __________________________________________________________ 

As the designated representative of the Department for Grant Agreement number _________________________ 
entered into between Grantee and the Department, I certify that the Grantee has submitted to the Department the 
following third party obligation executed, in writing, by the third party’s authorized representative: 

Vendor or Contractor:  ___________________________________________________________ 

Third Party Obligation Amount: ___________________________________________________________ 

Vendor or Contractor:  ___________________________________________________________ 

Third Party Obligation Amount: ___________________________________________________________ 

I certify that the State is issuing this Notice of Obligation to Reimburse Grantee for permissible purposes within 
the scope of the project description, subject to all the terms and conditions of the above referenced Grant 
Agreement. 

Grant Amount (Minus AIPP if applicable):    ____________________________________ 

The Amount of this Notice of Obligation:     ____________________________________ 

The Total Amount of all Previously Issued Notices of Obligation:  ____________________________________ 

The Total Amount of all Notices of Obligation to Date:  ____________________________________ 

Note: Contract amounts may exceed the total grant amount, but the invoices paid by the grant will not exceed the grant amount. 

Department Rep. Approver: __________________________________________________________________ 

Title:  __________________________________________________________________ 

Signature: __________________________________________________________________ 

Date:  __________________________________________________________________ 

1 Administrative and/or Indirect Cost – generally, the legislation authorizing the issuance of bonds prohibits the use of its proceeds for 
indirect expenses (e.g. penalty fees or damages other than pay for work performed, attorney fees, and administrative fees).  Such use of 
bond proceeds shall not be allowed unless specifically authorized by statute. 



Page 1 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

STATE OF NEW MEXICO 
DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 

FUND 93100 CAPITAL APPROPRIATION PROJECT 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between the Department Finance and 
Administration, State of New Mexico, Bataan Memorial Building, Room 202, Santa Fe, New Mexico, 87501, 
hereinafter called the “Department” or abbreviation such as “DFA/LGD”, and Sierra County, hereinafter 
called the “Grantee”.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the date it is executed by the Department. 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, in the Laws of 2023, Chapter 199, Section 28, Paragraph 455, the Legislature made an 
appropriation to the Department, funds from which the Department is making available to the Grantee pursuant 
to this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Department is granting to Grantee, and the Grantee is accepting the grant of, funds 
from this appropriation, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Sections 9-6-5 and 9-6-5.1 NMSA 1978, the Secretary of the Department of Finance 
and Administration has the power and the authority to (i) maintain long-range estimates and plans for capital projects and 
develop standards for measuring the need for, and utility of, proposed projects; (ii) contract for, receive and 
utilize any grants or other financial assistance made available by the United States government or by any other 
source, public or private; (iii) provide planning and funding assistance to units of local government, council of 
government organizations, Indian tribal governments situated within New Mexico, and to nonprofit entities 
having for their purpose local, regional or community betterment; (iv) incident to any such programs, may enter 
into contracts and agreements with such units of local government, council of government organizations, Indian 
tribal governments, nonprofit entities and the federal government; and (v) delegate such authority to the Local 
Government Division as being necessary and appropriate to such delegation. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and obligations contained herein, the 
parties hereby mutually agree as follows:  

ARTICLE I.  PROJECT DESCRIPTION, AMOUNT OF GRANT AND REVERSION DATE 

A. The project that is the subject of this Agreement is described as follows:

23-H3209 $350,000.00  APPROPRIATION REVERSION DATE:  June 30, 2027 

Laws of 2023, Chapter 199, Section 28, Paragraph 455, Three Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents 
($350,000.00), to plan, design, construct, renovate and equip the baseball field and recreational complex in 
Arrey in Sierra county; 



Page 2 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

The Grantee’s total reimbursements shall not exceed Three Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents 
$350,000.00 (the “Appropriation Amount”) minus the allocation for Art in Public Places (“AIPP amount”)7, if 
applicable, Three Thousand Five Hundred Dollars and Zero Cents $3,500.00, which equals Three Hundred 
Forty Six Thousand Five Hundred Dollars and Zero Cents $346,500.00 (the “Adjusted Appropriation 

Amount”). 

In the event of a conflict among the Appropriation Amount, the Reversion Date, as defined herein and/or the 
purpose of the Project, as set forth in this Agreement, and the corresponding appropriation language in the laws 
cited above in this Article I(A), the language of the laws cited herein shall control.    

This project is referred to throughout the remainder of this Agreement as the “Project”; the information 

contained in Article I(A) is referred to collectively throughout the remainder of this Agreement as the “Project 

Description.”  [OPTIONAL LANGUAGE: “Optional Attachment A sets forth additional or more stringent 

requirements and conditions, which are incorporated by this reference as if set forth fully herein. If Optional 
Attachment A imposes more stringent requirements than any requirement set forth in this Agreement, the more 
stringent requirements of Attachment A shall prevail, in the event of irreconcilable conflict.] The Grantee shall 
reference the Project's number in all correspondence with and submissions to the Department concerning the 
Project, including, but not limited to, Requests for Payment and reports. 

ARTICLE II. LIMITATION ON DEPARTMENT’S OBLIGATION TO MAKE GRANT 

DISBURSEMENT TO GRANTEE  

A. Upon the Effective Date of this Agreement, for permissible purposes within the scope of the Project
Description, the Grantee shall only be reimbursed monies for which the Department has issued and the Grantee 
has received a Notice of Department’s Obligation to Reimburse8 Grantee (hereinafter referred to as “Notice of 

Obligation”).  This Grant Agreement and the disbursement of any and all amounts of the above referenced 

Adjusted Appropriation Amount are expressly conditioned upon the following: 
(i) Irrespective of any Notice of Obligation, the Grantee’s expenditures shall be made on or before the

Reversion Date and, if applicable, an Early Termination Date (i.e., the goods have been delivered and
accepted or the title to the goods has been transferred to the Grantee and/or the services have been
rendered for the Grantee); and

(ii) The total amount received by the Grantee shall not exceed the lesser of: (a) the Adjusted Appropriation
Amount identified in Article I(A) herein or (b) the total of all amounts stated in the Notice(s) of
Obligation evidencing that the Department has received and accepted the Grantee’s Third Party

Obligation(s), as defined in subparagraph iii of this Article II(A); and
(iii)The Grantee’s expenditures were made pursuant to the State Procurement Code and execution of binding

written obligations or purchase orders with third party contractors or vendors for the provision of
services, including professional services, or the purchase of tangible personal property and real property
for the Project, hereinafter referred to as “Third Party Obligations”; and

7  The AIPP amount is “an amount of money equal to one percent or two hundred thousand dollars ($200,000), whichever is less, of 
the amount of money appropriated for new construction or any major renovation exceeding one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000).” 

Section 13-4A-4 NMSA 1978.  
8 “Reimburse” as used throughout this Agreement includes Department payments to the Grantee for invoices received, but not yet 

paid, by the Grantee from a third party contractor or vendor, if the invoices comply with the provisions of this Agreement and are a 
valid liability of the Grantee. 



Page 3 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

(iv) The Grantee’s submittal of timely Requests for Payment in accordance with the procedures set forth in

Article IX of this Agreement; and
(v) In the event that capital assets acquired with Project funds are to be sold, leased, or licensed to or

operated by a private entity, the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement:
a. must be approved by the applicable oversight entity (if any) in accordance with law; or
b. if no oversight entity is required to approve the transaction, the Department must approve the

transaction as complying with law.
Prior to the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement being approved pursuant to Articles II(A)(v)(a) 
and II(A)(v)(b) herein, the Department may, in its sole and absolute discretion and unless inconsistent 
with State Board of Finance imposed conditions, reimburse the Grantee for necessary expenditures 
incurred to develop the Project sufficiently to make the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement 
commercially feasible, such as plan and design expenditures; and 

(vi) The Grantee’s submission of documentation of all Third Party Obligations and amendments thereto
(including terminations) to the Department and the Department’s issuance and the Grantee’s receiving of

a Notice of Obligation for a particular amount in accordance with the terms of this Agreement shall be
governed by the following:

a. The Grantee shall submit to the Department one copy of all Third Party Obligations and
amendments thereto (including terminations) as soon as possible after execution by the Third
Party but prior to execution by the Grantee.

b. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that if it chooses to enter into a Third Party Obligation prior
to receiving a Notice of Obligation that covers the expenditure, it is solely responsible for
such obligations.

c. The Department may, in its sole and absolute discretion, issue to Grantee a Notice of
Obligation for the particular amount of that Third Party Obligation that only obligates the
Department to reimburse Grantee’s expenditures made on or before the Reversion Date or an
Early Termination Date.  The current Notice of Obligation form is attached to this Agreement
as Exhibit 2.

d. The date the Department signs the Notice of Obligation is the date that the Department’s

Notice of Obligation is effective. After that date, the Grantee is authorized to budget the
particular amount set forth in the Notice of Obligation, execute the Third Party Obligation and
request the Third Party to begin work. Payment for any work performed or goods received
prior to the effective date of the Notice of Obligation is wholly and solely the obligation of the
Grantee.

B. The Grantee shall implement, in all respects, the Project. The Grantee shall provide all necessary
qualified personnel, material, and facilities to implement the Project. The Grantee shall finance its share (if any) 
of the costs of the Project, including all Project overruns. 

C. Project funds shall not be used for purposes other than those specified in the Project Description.

D. Unless specifically allowed by law, Project funds cannot be used to reimburse Grantee for indirect
Project costs. 

ARTICLE III.  NOTICE PROVISIONS AND GRANTEE AND DEPARTMENT DESIGNATED 
REPRESENTATIVES 



Page 4 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

Whenever written notices, including written decisions, are to be given or received, related to this Agreement, 
the following provisions shall apply. 

The Grantee designates the person(s) listed below, or their successor, as their official representative(s) 
concerning all matters related to this Agreement: 

Grantee: Sierra County   
Name: Amber Vaughn  
Title: County Manager 
Address: 1712 N. Date St., Suite D Truth or Consequences NM 87901 
Email: avaughn@sierraco.org   
Telephone: 575-894-6215

The Grantee designates the person(s) listed below, or their successor, as their Fiscal Officer or Fiscal Agent 
concerning all matters related to this Agreement: 

Grantee: Sierra County   
Name: Jay Armijo 
Title: Executive Director 
Address: PO Box 1072 Elephant Butte NM 87935 
Email: jarmijo@sccog-nm.com  
Telephone: 575-744-4857

The Department designates the persons listed below, or their successors, as the Points of Contact for matters 
related to this Agreement.  

Department: Department of Finance and Administration  
Name: Alison Gillette  
Title Project Manager 
Address: Bataan Memorial Blvd. Room 202, Santa Fe NM 87501 
Email: Alison.Gillette@dfa.nm.gov  
Telephone: 505-469-7811

The Grantee and the Department agree that either party shall send all notices, including written decisions, 
related to this Agreement to the above named persons by email or regular mail. In the case of mailings, notices 
shall be deemed to have been given and received upon the date of the receiving party’s actual receipt or five 

calendar days after mailing, whichever shall first occur. In the case of email transmissions, the notice shall be 
deemed to have been given and received on the date reflected on the delivery receipt of email.   

ARTICLE IV.  REVERSION DATE, TERM, DEADLINE TO EXPEND FUNDS 

A. As referenced in Article I(A), the applicable law establishes a date by which Project funds must be
expended by Grantee, which is referred to throughout the remainder of this Agreement as the “Reversion Date.”  

Upon being duly executed by both parties, this Agreement shall be effective as of the date of execution by the 

mailto:avaughn@sierraco.org
mailto:jarmijo@sccog-nm.com
mailto:Alison.Gillette@dfa.nm.gov


Page 5 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

Department. It shall terminate on June 30, 2027 the Reversion Date unless Terminated Before Reversion Date 
(“Early Termination”) pursuant to Article V herein. 

B. The Project’s funds must be expended on or before the Reversion Date and, if applicable, Early

Termination Date of this Agreement. For purposes of this Agreement, it is not sufficient for the Grantee to 
encumber the Project funds on its books on or before the Project's Reversion Date or Early Termination Date. 
Funds are expended and an expenditure has occurred as of the date that a particular quantity of goods are 
delivered to and received by the Grantee or title to the goods is transferred to the Grantee and/or as of the date 
particular services are rendered for the Grantee.  Funds are not expended and an expenditure has not occurred 
as of the date they are encumbered by the Grantee pursuant to a contract or purchase order with a third party.   

ARTICLE V. EARLY TERMINATION 

A. Early Termination Before Reversion Date Due to Completion of the Project or Complete
Expenditure of the Adjusted Appropriation or Violation of this Agreement  

Early Termination includes: 
(i) Termination due to completion of the Project before the Reversion Date; or
(ii) Termination due to complete expenditure of the Adjusted Appropriation Amount before the

Reversion Date; or
(iii) Termination for violation of the terms of this Agreement; or
(iv) Termination for suspected mishandling of public funds, including but not limited to, fraud, waste,

abuse, and conflicts of interest.

Either the Department or the Grantee may early terminate this Agreement prior to the Reversion Date by 
providing the other party with a minimum of fifteen (15) days’ advance, written notice of early termination. 

Grantee hereby waives any rights to assert an impairment of contract claim against the Department or the State 
of New Mexico in the event of Early Termination of this Agreement by the Department pursuant to Article 
V(A). 

B. Early Termination Before Reversion Date Due to Non-appropriation
The terms of this Agreement are expressly made contingent upon sufficient appropriations and

authorization being made by the Legislature of New Mexico for the performance of this Agreement.  
Throughout this Agreement the term “non-appropriate” or “non-appropriation” includes the following actions 

by the New Mexico Legislature:  deauthorization, reauthorization or revocation of a prior authorization.  The 
Legislature may choose to non-appropriate the Appropriation referred to in Article I and, if that occurs, the 
Department shall early terminate this Agreement for non-appropriation by giving the Grantee written notice of 
such termination, and such termination shall be effective as of the effective date of the law making the non-
appropriation. The Department’s decision as to whether sufficient appropriations or authorizations are available 

shall be accepted by the Grantee and shall be final. Grantee hereby waives any rights to assert an impairment of 
contract claim against the Department or the State of New Mexico in the event of Early Termination of this 
Agreement by the Department pursuant to Article V(B). 

C. Limitation on Department’s Obligation to Make Grant Disbursements to Grantee in the Event

of Early Termination 
In the event of Early Termination of this Agreement by either party, the Department’s sole and absolute 

obligation to reimburse the Grantee is expressly conditioned upon the limitations set forth Article II.  



Page 6 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

ARTICLE VI. SUSPENSION OF NEW OR FURTHER OBLIGATIONS 

A. The Department may choose, in its sole and absolute discretion, to provide written notice to the Grantee
to suspend entering into new and further obligations. Upon the receipt of such written notice by the Grantee: 

(i) The Grantee shall immediately suspend entering into new or further written obligations with third
parties; and

(ii) The Department will suspend the issuance of any new or further Notice of Obligation under this
Agreement; and

(iii) The Department may direct the Grantee to implement a corrective action plan in accordance with
Article VI(D) herein.

B. In the event of Suspension of this Agreement, the Department’s sole and absolute obligation to
reimburse the Grantee is expressly conditioned upon the limitations set forth in Article II herein. 

C. A suspension of new or further obligations under this Agreement shall remain in effect unless or until
the date the Grantee receives written notice given by the Department informing the Grantee that the Suspension 
has been lifted or that the Agreement has been Early Terminated in accordance with Article V herein.  If the 
Suspension is lifted, the Department will consider further requests for Notice of Obligation. 

D. Corrective Action Plan in the Event of Suspension
In the event that the Department chooses, in its sole and absolute discretion to direct the Grantee to suspend 

entering into new or further written obligations with third parties pursuant to Article VI(A), the Department 
may, but is not obligated to, require the Grantee to develop and implement a written corrective action plan to 
remedy the grounds for the Suspension. Such corrective action plan must be approved by the Department and be 
signed by the Grantee. Failure to sign a corrective action plan or meet the terms and deadlines set forth in the 
signed corrective action plan, is hereby deemed a violation of the terms of this Agreement for purposes of Early 
Termination, Article V(A)(iii). The corrective action plan is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other 
equitable or legal remedy, including but not limited to Early Termination. 

ARTICLE VII. AMENDMENT 

This Agreement shall not be altered, changed, or amended except by instrument in writing duly executed 
by both the parties hereto. 

ARTICLE VIII.  REPORTS 

A. Database Reporting
The Grantee shall report quarterly Project activity by entering such Project information as the Department and the

Department of Finance and Administration may require, such information entered directly into a database maintained by 
the Department of Finance and Administration (Budget & Formulation Management System). Additionally, the Grantee 
shall certify on the Request for Payment form (Exhibit 1) that updates have been maintained and are current in the 
database. The Grantee hereby acknowledges that failure to perform and/or certify updates into the database will delay or 
potentially jeopardize the reimbursement of funds. The Department shall give Grantee a minimum of thirty (30) days’ 

advance written notice of any changes to the information the Grantee is required to report.  



Page 7 of 70 Revised 5-11-23 

Quarterly reports shall be due on the last day of the month that is 30 days prior to the end of the quarter following 
execution of this Agreement by the Department and ending during the quarter of the submission of the final request for 
reimbursement for the Project, or the following quarter. 

B. Requests for Additional Information/Project Inspection
During the term of this Agreement and during the period of time during which the Grantee must

maintain records pursuant to Article VIII, the Department may: 
(i) request such additional information regarding the Project as it deems necessary; and
(ii) conduct, at reasonable times and upon reasonable notice, onsite inspections of the Project.
Grantee shall respond to such requests for additional information within a reasonable period of time, as
established by the Department.



Page 8 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

ARTICLE IX. REQUEST FOR PAYMENT PROCEDURES AND DEADLINES 

A. The Grantee shall request payment by submitting a Request for Payment, in the form attached hereto
as Exhibit 1. Payment requests are subject to the following procedures: 

(i) The Grantee must submit a Request for Payment; and
(ii) Each Request for Payment must contain proof of payment by the Grantee or liabilities incurred by

the Grantee showing that the expenditures are valid or are liabilities incurred by the Grantee in
the form of actual unpaid invoices received by the Grantee for services rendered by a third party
or items of tangible personal property received by the Grantee for the implementation of the
Project; provided, however, that the Grantee may be reimbursed for unpaid liabilities only if the
Department, in its sole and absolute discretion, agrees to do so and in accordance with any special
conditions imposed by the Department.

(iii) In cases where the Grantee is submitting a Request for Payment to the Department based upon
invoices received, but not yet paid, by the Grantee from a third party contractor or vendor, if the
invoices comply with the provisions of this Agreement and are a valid liability of the Grantee, the
Grantee shall make payment to those contractors or vendors within five (5) business days from
the date of receiving reimbursement from the Department or such shorter period of time as the
Department may prescribe in writing. The Grantee is required to certify to the Department proof
of payment to the third party contractor or vendor within ten (10) business days from the date of
receiving reimbursement from the Department.

B. The Grantee must obligate 5% of the Adjusted Appropriation Amount within six months of
acceptance of the grant agreement and must have expended no less than 85% of the Adjusted
Appropriation Amount six months prior to the reversion date.

C. Deadlines
Requests for Payments shall be submitted by Grantee to the Department on the earlier of:

(i) Immediately as they are received by the Grantee but at a minimum thirty (30) days from when the
expenditure was incurred or liability of the Grantee was approved as evidenced by an unpaid
invoice received by the Grantee from a third party contractor or vendor; or

(ii) Twenty (20) days from date of Early Termination; or
(iii) Twenty (20) days from the Reversion Date.

D. The Grantee’s failure to abide by the requirements set forth in Article II and Article IX herein will

result in the denial of its Request for Payment or will delay the processing of Requests for Payment. The 
Department has the right to reject a payment request for the Project unless and until it is satisfied that the 
expenditures in the Request for Payment are for permissible purposes within the meaning of the Project 
Description and that the expenditures and the Grantee are otherwise in compliance with this Agreement, 
including but not limited to, compliance with the reporting requirements and the requirements set forth in 
Article II herein to provide Third Party Obligations and the Deadlines set forth in Article IX herein. The 
Department's ability to reject any Request for Payment is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other legal or 
equitable remedy available to the Department due to Grantee's violation of this Agreement.  



Page 9 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

ARTICLE X.  PROJECT CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS; REPRESENTATIONS AND 
WARRANTIES 

A. The following general conditions and restrictions are applicable to the Project:
(i) The Project’s funds must be spent in accordance with all applicable state laws, regulations,

policies, and guidelines, including, but not limited to, the State Procurement Code (or local
procurement ordinance, where applicable).

(ii) The Project must be implemented in accordance with the New Mexico Public Works Minimum
Wage Act, Section 13-4-10 through 13-4-17 NMSA 1978, as applicable.  Every contract or
project in excess of sixty thousand dollars ($60,000) that the Grantee is a party to for
construction, alteration, demolition or repair or any combination of these, including painting and
decorating, of public buildings, public works or public roads and that requires or involves the
employment of mechanics, laborers or both shall contain a provision stating the minimum wages
and fringe benefits to be paid to various classes of laborers and mechanics, shall be based upon
the wages and benefits that will be determined by the New Mexico Department of Workforce
Solutions to be prevailing for the corresponding classes of laborers and mechanics employed on
contract work of a similar nature in the locality. Further, every contract or project shall contain a
stipulation that the contractor, subcontractor, employer or a person acting as a contractor shall
pay all mechanics and laborers employed on the site of the project, unconditionally and not less
often than once a week and without subsequent unlawful deduction or rebate on any account, the
full amounts accrued at time of payment computed at wage rates and fringe benefit rates not less
than those determined pursuant to Section 13-4-11 (B) NMSA 1978 to be the prevailing wage
rates and prevailing fringe benefit rates issued for the project.

(iii) The Project may only benefit private entities in accordance with applicable law, including, but
not limited to, Article IX, Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of New Mexico, the “Anti-
Donation Clause.”

(iv) The Grantee shall not for a period of 10 years  from the date of this agreement convert any
property acquired, built, renovated, repaired, designed or developed with the Project’s funds to

uses other than those specified in the Project Description without the Department's and the Board
of Finance’s express, advance, written approval, which may include a requirement to reimburse

the State for the cost of the project, transfer proceeds from the disposition of property to the
State, or otherwise provide consideration to the State.

(v) The Grantee shall comply with all federal and state laws, rules and regulations pertaining to
equal employment opportunity. In accordance with all such laws, rules and regulations the
Grantee agrees to assure that no person shall, on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex,
sexual preference, age or handicap, be excluded from employment with Grantee, be excluded
from participation in the Project, be denied benefits or otherwise be subject to discrimination
under, any activity performed under this Agreement. If Grantee is found to be not in compliance
with these requirements during the life of this Agreement, Grantee agrees to take appropriate
steps to correct any deficiencies. The Grantee's failure to implement such appropriate steps
within a reasonable time constitutes grounds for terminating this Agreement.

B. The Grantee hereby represents and warrants the following:
(i) The Grantee has the legal authority to receive and expend the Project’s funds.



Page 10 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

(ii) This Agreement has been duly authorized by the Grantee, the person executing this Agreement
has authority to do so, and, once executed by the Grantee, this Agreement shall constitute a
binding obligation of the Grantee, enforceable according to its terms.

(iii) This Agreement and the Grantee's obligations hereunder do not conflict with any law or
ordinance or resolution applicable to the Grantee, the Grantee's charter (if applicable), or any
judgment or decree to which the Grantee is subject.

(iv) The Grantee has independently confirmed that the Project Description, including, but not limited
to, the amount and Reversion Date, is consistent with the underlying appropriation in law.

(v) The Grantee’s governing body has duly adopted or passed as an official act a resolution, motion,
or similar action authorizing the person identified as the official representative of the Grantee to
sign the Agreement and to sign Requests for Payment.

(vi) The Grantee shall abide by New Mexico laws regarding conflicts of interest, governmental
conduct and whistleblower protection.  The Grantee specifically agrees that no officer or
employee of the local jurisdiction or its designees or agents, no member of the governing body,
and no other public official of the locality who exercises any function or responsibility with
respect to this Grant, during their tenure or for one year thereafter, shall have any interest, direct
or indirect, in any contract or subcontract, or the proceeds thereof, for work to be performed or
goods to be received, pursuant to this Grant.  Further, Grantee shall require all of its contractors
to incorporate in all subcontracts the language set forth in this paragraph prohibiting conflicts of
interest.

(vii) No funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the Grantee, to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of this or any agency or body in
connection with the awarding of any Third Party Obligation and that the Grantee shall require
certifying language prohibiting lobbying to be included in the award documents for all
subawards, including subcontracts, loans and cooperative agreements.  All subrecipients shall be
required to certify accordingly.

ARTICLE XI.  STRICT ACCOUNTABILITY OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS; PROJECT 
RECORDS 

A. The Grantee shall be strictly accountable for receipts and disbursements relating to the Project’s

funds. The Grantee shall follow generally accepted accounting principles, and, if feasible, maintain a separate 
bank account or fund with a separate organizational code, for the funds to assure separate budgeting and 
accounting of the funds. 

B. For a period of six (6) years following the Project's completion, the Grantee shall maintain all Project
related records, including, but not limited to, all financial records, requests for proposals, invitations to bid, 
selection and award criteria, contracts and subcontracts, advertisements, minutes of pertinent meetings, as well 
as records sufficient to fully account for the amount and disposition of the total funds from all sources budgeted 
for the Project, the purpose for which such funds were used, and such other records as the Department shall 
prescribe. 

C. The Grantee shall make all Project records available to the Department, the Department of Finance
and Administration, and the New Mexico State Auditor upon request.  With respect to the funds that are the 
subject of this Agreement, if the State Auditor or the Department of Finance and Administration finds that any 



Page 11 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

or all of these funds were improperly expended, the Grantee may be required to reimburse to the State of New 
Mexico, to the originating fund, any and all amounts found to be improperly expended.  

ARTICLE XII.  IMPROPERLY REIMBURSED FUNDS 

If the Department determines that part or all of the Appropriation Amount was improperly reimbursed to 
Grantee, including but not limited to, Project funds reimbursed to Grantee based upon fraud, mismanagement, 
misrepresentation, misuse, violation of law by the Grantee, or violation of this Agreement, the Grantee shall 
return such funds to the Department for disposition in accordance with law. 

ARTICLE XIII. LIABILITY 

Neither party shall be responsible for liability incurred as a result of the other party's acts or omissions in 
connection with this Agreement. Any liability incurred in connection with this Agreement is subject to 
immunities and limitations of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act. 

ARTICLE XIV.  SCOPE OF AGREEMENT 

This Agreement constitutes the entire and exclusive agreement between the Grantee and Department concerning 
the subject matter hereof. The Agreement supersedes any and all prior or contemporaneous agreements, 
understandings, discussions, communications, and representations, written or verbal. 

ARTICLE XV.  REQUIRED NON-APPROPRIATIONS CLAUSE IN CONTRACTS FUNDED IN 
WHOLE OR PART BY FUNDS MADE AVAILABLE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT 

The Grantee acknowledges, warrants, and agrees that Grantee shall include a “non-appropriations” clause in all 

contracts between it and other parties that are (i) funded in whole or part by funds made available under this 
Agreement and (ii) entered into after the effective date of this Agreement that states: 

“The terms of this Agreement are contingent upon sufficient appropriations and authorization being made by 

the Legislature of New Mexico for the performance of this Agreement. If sufficient appropriations and 
authorization are not made by the Legislature, the Sierra County may immediately terminate this Agreement 
by giving Contractor written notice of such termination. The Sierra County’s decision as to whether sufficient 
appropriations are available shall be accepted by the Contractor and shall be final. Contractor hereby waives 
any rights to assert an impairment of contract claim against the Sierra County or the Department of Finance 
and Administration or the State of New Mexico in the event of immediate or Early Termination of this 
Agreement by the Sierra County or the “Department.”   

ARTICLE XVI.  REQUIRED TERMINATION CLAUSE IN CONTRACTS FUNDED IN WHOLE OR 
PART BY FUNDS MADE AVAILABLE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT 

Grantee acknowledges, warrants, and agrees that Grantee shall include the following termination clause in all 
contracts that are (i) funded in whole or part by funds made available under this Agreement and (ii) entered into 
after the effective date of this Agreement: 



Page 12 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

“This contract is funded in whole or in part by funds made available under a Department of Finance and 
Administration Grant Agreement.  Should the Department of Finance and Administration early terminate the 
grant agreement, the Sierra County may early terminate this contract by providing Contractor written notice of 
such termination.  In the event of termination pursuant to this paragraph, the Sierra County only liability shall 
be to pay Contractor for acceptable goods delivered and services rendered before the termination date.”   

Grantee hereby waives any rights to assert an impairment of contract claim against the Department or the State 
of New Mexico in the event of Early Termination of this Agreement by the Department. 

ARTICLE XVII. COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORM FUNDING CRITERIA. 

A. Throughout the term of this Agreement, Grantee shall:
1. submit all reports of annual audits and agreed upon procedures required by Section 12-6-

3(A)-(B) NMSA 1978 by the due dates established in 2.2.2 NMAC, reports of which must be a public record 
pursuant to Section 12-6-5(A) NMSA 1978 within forty-five days of delivery to the State Auditor;  

2. have a duly adopted budget for the current fiscal year approved by its budgetary oversight
agency (if any); 

3. timely submit all required financial reports to its budgetary oversight agency (if any); and
4. have adequate accounting methods and procedures to expend grant funds in accordance

with applicable law and account for and safeguard grant funds and assets acquired by grant funds. 

B. In the event Grantee fails to comply with the requirements of Paragraph A of this Article XVII,
the Department may take one or more of the following actions: 

1. suspend new or further obligations pursuant to Article VI(A) of this Agreement;
2. require the Grantee to develop and implement a written corrective action plan pursuant to

Article VI(D) of this Agreement to remedy the non-compliance; 
3. impose special grant conditions to address the non-compliance by giving the Grantee

notice of such special conditions in accordance with Article III of this Agreement; the special conditions shall 
be binding and effective on the date that notice is deemed to have been given pursuant to Article III; or 

4. terminate this Agreement pursuant to Article V(A) of this Agreement.

ARTICLE XVIII.  [OPTIONAL IF THE APPROPRIATION IS FUNDED BY SEVERANCE TAX 
BONDS OR GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS] SEVERANCE TAX BOND AND GENERAL 
OBLIGATION BOND PROJECT CLAUSES 

A. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that the underlying appropriation for the Project is a severance tax
bond or general obligation bond appropriation, and that the associated bond proceeds are administered by the 
New Mexico State Board of Finance (SBOF), an entity separate and distinct from the Department.  Grantee 
acknowledges and agrees that (i) it is Grantee’s sole and absolute responsibility to determine through SBOF 
staff what (if any) conditions are currently imposed on the Project; (ii) the Department’s failure to inform 
Grantee of a SBOF imposed condition does not affect the validity or enforceability of the condition; (iii) the 
SBOF may in the future impose further or different conditions upon the Project; (iv) all SBOF conditions are 
effective without amendment of this Agreement; (v) all applicable SBOF conditions must be satisfied before the 
SBOF will release to the Department funds subject to the condition(s); and (vi) the Department’s obligation to 

reimburse Grantee from the Project is contingent upon the then current SBOF conditions being satisfied. 



Page 13 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

B. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that the SBOF may in its sole and absolute discretion remove a
project’s assigned bond proceeds if the project doesn’t proceed sufficiently. Entities must comply with the 

requirement to encumber five percent (5%) of Project funds within six months of bond issuance as certified by 
the grantee in the Bond Questionnaire and Certification documents submitted to the SBOF. Failure to comply 
may result in the bond proceeds reassignment to a new ready project. If this should occur this grant agreement 
will be suspended until the entity has demonstrated readiness as determined by the SBOF and the Department.  

C. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that this Agreement is subject to the SBOF’s Bond Project

Disbursements rule, NMAC 2.61.6, as may be amended or re-codified. The rule provides definitions and 
interpretations of grant language for the purpose of determining whether a particular activity is allowable under 
the authorizing language of the agreement.  

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY] 



Page 14 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the date of execution 
by the Department. 
GRANTEE 

___________________________________________ 
Signature of Official with Authority to Bind Grantee 

___________________________________________ 
Entity Name 

By: ________________________________________ 
 (Type or Print Name) 

Its: ________________________________________ 
(Type or Print Title) 

___________________________________________ 
Date 

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 

___________________________________________ 
By:  

Its: Division Director 

___________________________________________ 
Date 



I. Grantee Information II. Payment Computation
A. Payment Request No.

A. Grantee: B. Grant Amount:

B. Address: C. AIPP Amount (If Applicable) :

D. Funds Requested to Date:

E. Amount Requested this Payment:

F. Reversion Amount (If Applicable ):

G. Grant Balance:C. Contact Name/Phone #:

D. Grant No: H. GF   GOB    STB (attach wire if first draw )

E. Project Title: I. Final Request for Payment (if Applicable )

F.

(The State of NM Fiscal Year is July 1, 20XX through June 30, 20XX of the following year)

IV.

V.

Grantee Fiscal Officer     Grantee Representative  
or Fiscal Agent (if applicable )

Printed Name Printed Name

Date: Date:

Vendor Code: Fund No.: Loc No.:

I certify that the State Agency financial and vendor file information agree with the above submitted information.

Division Fiscal Officer Date Division Project Manager Date

(State Agency Use Only)

Reporting Certification: I hereby certify to the best of my knowledge and belief, that database reporting is up to date; to include the accuracy of 
expenditures and grant balance, project status, project phase, achievements and milestones; and in compliance with Article VIII of the Capital Outlay Grant 
Agreement.

III. Fiscal Year :

STATE OF NEW MEXICO 
CAPITAL GRANT PROJECT
 Request for Payment Form 

Exhibit 1

       (Make sure information is complete & accurate)

(Complete Mailing, including Suite, if applicable)

Grant Expiration Date:

Compliance Certification: Under penalty of law, I hereby certify to the best of my knowledge and belief, the above information is correct; 
expenditures are properly documented, and are valid expenditures or actual receipts; and that the grant activity is in full compliance with Article IX, Sec. 14 of the 
New Mexico Constitution known as the "anti donation" clause.

City, State, Zip

September 2014



NOTICE OF OBLIGATION TO REIMBURSE GRANTEE 
EXHIBIT 2

Notice of Obligation to Reimburse Grantee # ___________   

DATE: ____________________________ 

TO:   Department Representative: _____________________________, _________________________ 

FROM: Grantee Entity: _________________________________________________________________ 

Grantee Official Representative:_____________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Notice of Obligation to Reimburse Grantee      

Grant Number: ________________________________________________________________ 

Grant Termination Date: __________________________________________________________ 

As the designated representative of the Department for Grant Agreement number _________________________ 
entered into between Grantee and the Department, I certify that the Grantee has submitted to the Department the 
following third party obligation executed, in writing, by the third party’s authorized representative: 

Vendor or Contractor:  ___________________________________________________________ 

Third Party Obligation Amount: ___________________________________________________________ 

Vendor or Contractor:  ___________________________________________________________ 

Third Party Obligation Amount: ___________________________________________________________ 

I certify that the State is issuing this Notice of Obligation to Reimburse Grantee for permissible purposes within 
the scope of the project description, subject to all the terms and conditions of the above referenced Grant 
Agreement. 

Grant Amount (Minus AIPP if applicable):    ____________________________________ 

The Amount of this Notice of Obligation:     ____________________________________ 

The Total Amount of all Previously Issued Notices of Obligation:  ____________________________________ 

The Total Amount of all Notices of Obligation to Date:  ____________________________________ 

Note: Contract amounts may exceed the total grant amount, but the invoices paid by the grant will not exceed the grant amount. 

Department Rep. Approver: __________________________________________________________________ 

Title:  __________________________________________________________________ 

Signature: __________________________________________________________________ 

Date:  __________________________________________________________________ 

1 Administrative and/or Indirect Cost – generally, the legislation authorizing the issuance of bonds prohibits the use of its proceeds for 
indirect expenses (e.g. penalty fees or damages other than pay for work performed, attorney fees, and administrative fees).  Such use of 
bond proceeds shall not be allowed unless specifically authorized by statute. 



Page 1 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

STATE OF NEW MEXICO 
DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 

FUND 93100 CAPITAL APPROPRIATION PROJECT 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between the Department Finance and 
Administration, State of New Mexico, Bataan Memorial Building, Room 202, Santa Fe, New Mexico, 87501, 
hereinafter called the “Department” or abbreviation such as “DFA/LGD”, and Sierra County, hereinafter 
called the “Grantee”.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the date it is executed by the Department. 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, in the Laws of 2023, Chapter 199, Section 28, Paragraph 458, the Legislature made an 
appropriation to the Department, funds from which the Department is making available to the Grantee pursuant 
to this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Department is granting to Grantee, and the Grantee is accepting the grant of, funds 
from this appropriation, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Sections 9-6-5 and 9-6-5.1 NMSA 1978, the Secretary of the Department of Finance 
and Administration has the power and the authority to (i) maintain long-range estimates and plans for capital projects and 
develop standards for measuring the need for, and utility of, proposed projects; (ii) contract for, receive and 
utilize any grants or other financial assistance made available by the United States government or by any other 
source, public or private; (iii) provide planning and funding assistance to units of local government, council of 
government organizations, Indian tribal governments situated within New Mexico, and to nonprofit entities 
having for their purpose local, regional or community betterment; (iv) incident to any such programs, may enter 
into contracts and agreements with such units of local government, council of government organizations, Indian 
tribal governments, nonprofit entities and the federal government; and (v) delegate such authority to the Local 
Government Division as being necessary and appropriate to such delegation. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and obligations contained herein, the 
parties hereby mutually agree as follows:  

ARTICLE I.  PROJECT DESCRIPTION, AMOUNT OF GRANT AND REVERSION DATE 

A. The project that is the subject of this Agreement is described as follows:

23-H3212 $250,000.00  APPROPRIATION REVERSION DATE:  June 30, 2027 

Laws of 2023, Chapter 199, Section 28, Paragraph 458, Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents 
($250,000.00), to plan, design, construct, replace and renovate the Hillsboro community center, including 
heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems, doors and windows, in Hillsboro in Sierra county; 



Page 2 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

The Grantee’s total reimbursements shall not exceed Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents 
$250,000.00 (the “Appropriation Amount”) minus the allocation for Art in Public Places (“AIPP amount”)3, if 
applicable, Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars and Zero Cents $2,500.00, which equals Two Hundred Forty 
Seven Thousand Five Hundred Dollars and Zero Cents $247,500.00 (the “Adjusted Appropriation Amount”). 

In the event of a conflict among the Appropriation Amount, the Reversion Date, as defined herein and/or the 
purpose of the Project, as set forth in this Agreement, and the corresponding appropriation language in the laws 
cited above in this Article I(A), the language of the laws cited herein shall control.    

This project is referred to throughout the remainder of this Agreement as the “Project”; the information 

contained in Article I(A) is referred to collectively throughout the remainder of this Agreement as the “Project 

Description.”  [OPTIONAL LANGUAGE: “Optional Attachment A sets forth additional or more stringent 

requirements and conditions, which are incorporated by this reference as if set forth fully herein. If Optional 
Attachment A imposes more stringent requirements than any requirement set forth in this Agreement, the more 
stringent requirements of Attachment A shall prevail, in the event of irreconcilable conflict.] The Grantee shall 
reference the Project's number in all correspondence with and submissions to the Department concerning the 
Project, including, but not limited to, Requests for Payment and reports. 

ARTICLE II. LIMITATION ON DEPARTMENT’S OBLIGATION TO MAKE GRANT 

DISBURSEMENT TO GRANTEE  

A. Upon the Effective Date of this Agreement, for permissible purposes within the scope of the Project
Description, the Grantee shall only be reimbursed monies for which the Department has issued and the Grantee 
has received a Notice of Department’s Obligation to Reimburse4 Grantee (hereinafter referred to as “Notice of 

Obligation”).  This Grant Agreement and the disbursement of any and all amounts of the above referenced 

Adjusted Appropriation Amount are expressly conditioned upon the following: 
(i) Irrespective of any Notice of Obligation, the Grantee’s expenditures shall be made on or before the

Reversion Date and, if applicable, an Early Termination Date (i.e., the goods have been delivered and
accepted or the title to the goods has been transferred to the Grantee and/or the services have been
rendered for the Grantee); and

(ii) The total amount received by the Grantee shall not exceed the lesser of: (a) the Adjusted Appropriation
Amount identified in Article I(A) herein or (b) the total of all amounts stated in the Notice(s) of
Obligation evidencing that the Department has received and accepted the Grantee’s Third Party

Obligation(s), as defined in subparagraph iii of this Article II(A); and
(iii)The Grantee’s expenditures were made pursuant to the State Procurement Code and execution of binding

written obligations or purchase orders with third party contractors or vendors for the provision of
services, including professional services, or the purchase of tangible personal property and real property
for the Project, hereinafter referred to as “Third Party Obligations”; and

(iv) The Grantee’s submittal of timely Requests for Payment in accordance with the procedures set forth in

Article IX of this Agreement; and

3  The AIPP amount is “an amount of money equal to one percent or two hundred thousand dollars ($200,000), whichever is less, of 
the amount of money appropriated for new construction or any major renovation exceeding one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000).” 

Section 13-4A-4 NMSA 1978.  
4 “Reimburse” as used throughout this Agreement includes Department payments to the Grantee for invoices received, but not yet 

paid, by the Grantee from a third party contractor or vendor, if the invoices comply with the provisions of this Agreement and are a 
valid liability of the Grantee. 



Page 3 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

(v) In the event that capital assets acquired with Project funds are to be sold, leased, or licensed to or
operated by a private entity, the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement:

a. must be approved by the applicable oversight entity (if any) in accordance with law; or
b. if no oversight entity is required to approve the transaction, the Department must approve the

transaction as complying with law.
Prior to the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement being approved pursuant to Articles II(A)(v)(a) 
and II(A)(v)(b) herein, the Department may, in its sole and absolute discretion and unless inconsistent 
with State Board of Finance imposed conditions, reimburse the Grantee for necessary expenditures 
incurred to develop the Project sufficiently to make the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement 
commercially feasible, such as plan and design expenditures; and 

(vi) The Grantee’s submission of documentation of all Third Party Obligations and amendments thereto
(including terminations) to the Department and the Department’s issuance and the Grantee’s receiving of

a Notice of Obligation for a particular amount in accordance with the terms of this Agreement shall be
governed by the following:

a. The Grantee shall submit to the Department one copy of all Third Party Obligations and
amendments thereto (including terminations) as soon as possible after execution by the Third
Party but prior to execution by the Grantee.

b. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that if it chooses to enter into a Third Party Obligation prior
to receiving a Notice of Obligation that covers the expenditure, it is solely responsible for
such obligations.

c. The Department may, in its sole and absolute discretion, issue to Grantee a Notice of
Obligation for the particular amount of that Third Party Obligation that only obligates the
Department to reimburse Grantee’s expenditures made on or before the Reversion Date or an
Early Termination Date.  The current Notice of Obligation form is attached to this Agreement
as Exhibit 2.

d. The date the Department signs the Notice of Obligation is the date that the Department’s

Notice of Obligation is effective. After that date, the Grantee is authorized to budget the
particular amount set forth in the Notice of Obligation, execute the Third Party Obligation and
request the Third Party to begin work. Payment for any work performed or goods received
prior to the effective date of the Notice of Obligation is wholly and solely the obligation of the
Grantee.

B. The Grantee shall implement, in all respects, the Project. The Grantee shall provide all necessary
qualified personnel, material, and facilities to implement the Project. The Grantee shall finance its share (if any) 
of the costs of the Project, including all Project overruns. 

C. Project funds shall not be used for purposes other than those specified in the Project Description.

D. Unless specifically allowed by law, Project funds cannot be used to reimburse Grantee for indirect
Project costs. 

ARTICLE III.  NOTICE PROVISIONS AND GRANTEE AND DEPARTMENT DESIGNATED 
REPRESENTATIVES 

Whenever written notices, including written decisions, are to be given or received, related to this Agreement, 
the following provisions shall apply. 



Page 4 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

The Grantee designates the person(s) listed below, or their successor, as their official representative(s) 
concerning all matters related to this Agreement: 

Grantee: Sierra County   
Name: Amber Vaughn  
Title: County Manager 
Address: 1712 N. Date St., Suite D Truth or Consequences NM 87901 
Email: avaughn@sierraco.org   
Telephone: 575-894-6215

The Grantee designates the person(s) listed below, or their successor, as their Fiscal Officer or Fiscal Agent 
concerning all matters related to this Agreement: 

Grantee: Sierra County   
Name: Jay Armijo 
Title: Executive Director 
Address: PO Box 1072 Elephant Butte NM 87935 
Email: jarmijo@sccog-nm.com  
Telephone: 575-744-4857

The Department designates the persons listed below, or their successors, as the Points of Contact for matters 
related to this Agreement.  

Department: Department of Finance and Administration  
Name: Alison Gillette  
Title Project Manager 
Address: Bataan Memorial Blvd. Room 202, Santa Fe NM 87501 
Email: Alison.Gillette@dfa.nm.gov  
Telephone: 505-469-7811

The Grantee and the Department agree that either party shall send all notices, including written decisions, 
related to this Agreement to the above named persons by email or regular mail. In the case of mailings, notices 
shall be deemed to have been given and received upon the date of the receiving party’s actual receipt or five 

calendar days after mailing, whichever shall first occur. In the case of email transmissions, the notice shall be 
deemed to have been given and received on the date reflected on the delivery receipt of email.   

ARTICLE IV.  REVERSION DATE, TERM, DEADLINE TO EXPEND FUNDS 

A. As referenced in Article I(A), the applicable law establishes a date by which Project funds must be
expended by Grantee, which is referred to throughout the remainder of this Agreement as the “Reversion Date.”  

Upon being duly executed by both parties, this Agreement shall be effective as of the date of execution by the 
Department. It shall terminate on June 30, 2027 the Reversion Date unless Terminated Before Reversion Date 
(“Early Termination”) pursuant to Article V herein. 

mailto:avaughn@sierraco.org
mailto:jarmijo@sccog-nm.com
mailto:Alison.Gillette@dfa.nm.gov


Page 5 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

B. The Project’s funds must be expended on or before the Reversion Date and, if applicable, Early

Termination Date of this Agreement. For purposes of this Agreement, it is not sufficient for the Grantee to 
encumber the Project funds on its books on or before the Project's Reversion Date or Early Termination Date. 
Funds are expended and an expenditure has occurred as of the date that a particular quantity of goods are 
delivered to and received by the Grantee or title to the goods is transferred to the Grantee and/or as of the date 
particular services are rendered for the Grantee.  Funds are not expended and an expenditure has not occurred 
as of the date they are encumbered by the Grantee pursuant to a contract or purchase order with a third party.   

ARTICLE V. EARLY TERMINATION 

A. Early Termination Before Reversion Date Due to Completion of the Project or Complete
Expenditure of the Adjusted Appropriation or Violation of this Agreement  

Early Termination includes: 
(i) Termination due to completion of the Project before the Reversion Date; or
(ii) Termination due to complete expenditure of the Adjusted Appropriation Amount before the

Reversion Date; or
(iii) Termination for violation of the terms of this Agreement; or
(iv) Termination for suspected mishandling of public funds, including but not limited to, fraud, waste,

abuse, and conflicts of interest.

Either the Department or the Grantee may early terminate this Agreement prior to the Reversion Date by 
providing the other party with a minimum of fifteen (15) days’ advance, written notice of early termination. 

Grantee hereby waives any rights to assert an impairment of contract claim against the Department or the State 
of New Mexico in the event of Early Termination of this Agreement by the Department pursuant to Article 
V(A). 

B. Early Termination Before Reversion Date Due to Non-appropriation
The terms of this Agreement are expressly made contingent upon sufficient appropriations and

authorization being made by the Legislature of New Mexico for the performance of this Agreement.  
Throughout this Agreement the term “non-appropriate” or “non-appropriation” includes the following actions 

by the New Mexico Legislature:  deauthorization, reauthorization or revocation of a prior authorization.  The 
Legislature may choose to non-appropriate the Appropriation referred to in Article I and, if that occurs, the 
Department shall early terminate this Agreement for non-appropriation by giving the Grantee written notice of 
such termination, and such termination shall be effective as of the effective date of the law making the non-
appropriation. The Department’s decision as to whether sufficient appropriations or authorizations are available 

shall be accepted by the Grantee and shall be final. Grantee hereby waives any rights to assert an impairment of 
contract claim against the Department or the State of New Mexico in the event of Early Termination of this 
Agreement by the Department pursuant to Article V(B). 

C. Limitation on Department’s Obligation to Make Grant Disbursements to Grantee in the Event

of Early Termination 
In the event of Early Termination of this Agreement by either party, the Department’s sole and absolute 

obligation to reimburse the Grantee is expressly conditioned upon the limitations set forth Article II.  

ARTICLE VI. SUSPENSION OF NEW OR FURTHER OBLIGATIONS 



Page 6 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

A. The Department may choose, in its sole and absolute discretion, to provide written notice to the Grantee
to suspend entering into new and further obligations. Upon the receipt of such written notice by the Grantee: 

(i) The Grantee shall immediately suspend entering into new or further written obligations with third
parties; and

(ii) The Department will suspend the issuance of any new or further Notice of Obligation under this
Agreement; and

(iii) The Department may direct the Grantee to implement a corrective action plan in accordance with
Article VI(D) herein.

B. In the event of Suspension of this Agreement, the Department’s sole and absolute obligation to
reimburse the Grantee is expressly conditioned upon the limitations set forth in Article II herein. 

C. A suspension of new or further obligations under this Agreement shall remain in effect unless or until
the date the Grantee receives written notice given by the Department informing the Grantee that the Suspension 
has been lifted or that the Agreement has been Early Terminated in accordance with Article V herein.  If the 
Suspension is lifted, the Department will consider further requests for Notice of Obligation. 

D. Corrective Action Plan in the Event of Suspension
In the event that the Department chooses, in its sole and absolute discretion to direct the Grantee to suspend 

entering into new or further written obligations with third parties pursuant to Article VI(A), the Department 
may, but is not obligated to, require the Grantee to develop and implement a written corrective action plan to 
remedy the grounds for the Suspension. Such corrective action plan must be approved by the Department and be 
signed by the Grantee. Failure to sign a corrective action plan or meet the terms and deadlines set forth in the 
signed corrective action plan, is hereby deemed a violation of the terms of this Agreement for purposes of Early 
Termination, Article V(A)(iii). The corrective action plan is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other 
equitable or legal remedy, including but not limited to Early Termination. 

ARTICLE VII. AMENDMENT 

This Agreement shall not be altered, changed, or amended except by instrument in writing duly executed 
by both the parties hereto. 

ARTICLE VIII.  REPORTS 

A. Database Reporting
The Grantee shall report quarterly Project activity by entering such Project information as the Department and the

Department of Finance and Administration may require, such information entered directly into a database maintained by 
the Department of Finance and Administration (Budget & Formulation Management System). Additionally, the Grantee 
shall certify on the Request for Payment form (Exhibit 1) that updates have been maintained and are current in the 
database. The Grantee hereby acknowledges that failure to perform and/or certify updates into the database will delay or 
potentially jeopardize the reimbursement of funds. The Department shall give Grantee a minimum of thirty (30) days’ 

advance written notice of any changes to the information the Grantee is required to report.  

Quarterly reports shall be due on the last day of the month that is 30 days prior to the end of the quarter following 
execution of this Agreement by the Department and ending during the quarter of the submission of the final request for 
reimbursement for the Project, or the following quarter. 



Page 7 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

B. Requests for Additional Information/Project Inspection
During the term of this Agreement and during the period of time during which the Grantee must

maintain records pursuant to Article VIII, the Department may: 
(i) request such additional information regarding the Project as it deems necessary; and
(ii) conduct, at reasonable times and upon reasonable notice, onsite inspections of the Project.
Grantee shall respond to such requests for additional information within a reasonable period of time, as
established by the Department.



Page 8 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

ARTICLE IX. REQUEST FOR PAYMENT PROCEDURES AND DEADLINES 

A. The Grantee shall request payment by submitting a Request for Payment, in the form attached hereto
as Exhibit 1. Payment requests are subject to the following procedures: 

(i) The Grantee must submit a Request for Payment; and
(ii) Each Request for Payment must contain proof of payment by the Grantee or liabilities incurred by

the Grantee showing that the expenditures are valid or are liabilities incurred by the Grantee in
the form of actual unpaid invoices received by the Grantee for services rendered by a third party
or items of tangible personal property received by the Grantee for the implementation of the
Project; provided, however, that the Grantee may be reimbursed for unpaid liabilities only if the
Department, in its sole and absolute discretion, agrees to do so and in accordance with any special
conditions imposed by the Department.

(iii) In cases where the Grantee is submitting a Request for Payment to the Department based upon
invoices received, but not yet paid, by the Grantee from a third party contractor or vendor, if the
invoices comply with the provisions of this Agreement and are a valid liability of the Grantee, the
Grantee shall make payment to those contractors or vendors within five (5) business days from
the date of receiving reimbursement from the Department or such shorter period of time as the
Department may prescribe in writing. The Grantee is required to certify to the Department proof
of payment to the third party contractor or vendor within ten (10) business days from the date of
receiving reimbursement from the Department.

B. The Grantee must obligate 5% of the Adjusted Appropriation Amount within six months of
acceptance of the grant agreement and must have expended no less than 85% of the Adjusted
Appropriation Amount six months prior to the reversion date.

C. Deadlines
Requests for Payments shall be submitted by Grantee to the Department on the earlier of:

(i) Immediately as they are received by the Grantee but at a minimum thirty (30) days from when the
expenditure was incurred or liability of the Grantee was approved as evidenced by an unpaid
invoice received by the Grantee from a third party contractor or vendor; or

(ii) Twenty (20) days from date of Early Termination; or
(iii) Twenty (20) days from the Reversion Date.

D. The Grantee’s failure to abide by the requirements set forth in Article II and Article IX herein will

result in the denial of its Request for Payment or will delay the processing of Requests for Payment. The 
Department has the right to reject a payment request for the Project unless and until it is satisfied that the 
expenditures in the Request for Payment are for permissible purposes within the meaning of the Project 
Description and that the expenditures and the Grantee are otherwise in compliance with this Agreement, 
including but not limited to, compliance with the reporting requirements and the requirements set forth in 
Article II herein to provide Third Party Obligations and the Deadlines set forth in Article IX herein. The 
Department's ability to reject any Request for Payment is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other legal or 
equitable remedy available to the Department due to Grantee's violation of this Agreement.  



Page 9 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

ARTICLE X.  PROJECT CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS; REPRESENTATIONS AND 
WARRANTIES 

A. The following general conditions and restrictions are applicable to the Project:
(i) The Project’s funds must be spent in accordance with all applicable state laws, regulations,

policies, and guidelines, including, but not limited to, the State Procurement Code (or local
procurement ordinance, where applicable).

(ii) The Project must be implemented in accordance with the New Mexico Public Works Minimum
Wage Act, Section 13-4-10 through 13-4-17 NMSA 1978, as applicable.  Every contract or
project in excess of sixty thousand dollars ($60,000) that the Grantee is a party to for
construction, alteration, demolition or repair or any combination of these, including painting and
decorating, of public buildings, public works or public roads and that requires or involves the
employment of mechanics, laborers or both shall contain a provision stating the minimum wages
and fringe benefits to be paid to various classes of laborers and mechanics, shall be based upon
the wages and benefits that will be determined by the New Mexico Department of Workforce
Solutions to be prevailing for the corresponding classes of laborers and mechanics employed on
contract work of a similar nature in the locality. Further, every contract or project shall contain a
stipulation that the contractor, subcontractor, employer or a person acting as a contractor shall
pay all mechanics and laborers employed on the site of the project, unconditionally and not less
often than once a week and without subsequent unlawful deduction or rebate on any account, the
full amounts accrued at time of payment computed at wage rates and fringe benefit rates not less
than those determined pursuant to Section 13-4-11 (B) NMSA 1978 to be the prevailing wage
rates and prevailing fringe benefit rates issued for the project.

(iii) The Project may only benefit private entities in accordance with applicable law, including, but
not limited to, Article IX, Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of New Mexico, the “Anti-
Donation Clause.”

(iv) The Grantee shall not for a period of 10 years  from the date of this agreement convert any
property acquired, built, renovated, repaired, designed or developed with the Project’s funds to

uses other than those specified in the Project Description without the Department's and the Board
of Finance’s express, advance, written approval, which may include a requirement to reimburse

the State for the cost of the project, transfer proceeds from the disposition of property to the
State, or otherwise provide consideration to the State.

(v) The Grantee shall comply with all federal and state laws, rules and regulations pertaining to
equal employment opportunity. In accordance with all such laws, rules and regulations the
Grantee agrees to assure that no person shall, on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex,
sexual preference, age or handicap, be excluded from employment with Grantee, be excluded
from participation in the Project, be denied benefits or otherwise be subject to discrimination
under, any activity performed under this Agreement. If Grantee is found to be not in compliance
with these requirements during the life of this Agreement, Grantee agrees to take appropriate
steps to correct any deficiencies. The Grantee's failure to implement such appropriate steps
within a reasonable time constitutes grounds for terminating this Agreement.

B. The Grantee hereby represents and warrants the following:
(i) The Grantee has the legal authority to receive and expend the Project’s funds.



Page 10 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

(ii) This Agreement has been duly authorized by the Grantee, the person executing this Agreement
has authority to do so, and, once executed by the Grantee, this Agreement shall constitute a
binding obligation of the Grantee, enforceable according to its terms.

(iii) This Agreement and the Grantee's obligations hereunder do not conflict with any law or
ordinance or resolution applicable to the Grantee, the Grantee's charter (if applicable), or any
judgment or decree to which the Grantee is subject.

(iv) The Grantee has independently confirmed that the Project Description, including, but not limited
to, the amount and Reversion Date, is consistent with the underlying appropriation in law.

(v) The Grantee’s governing body has duly adopted or passed as an official act a resolution, motion,
or similar action authorizing the person identified as the official representative of the Grantee to
sign the Agreement and to sign Requests for Payment.

(vi) The Grantee shall abide by New Mexico laws regarding conflicts of interest, governmental
conduct and whistleblower protection.  The Grantee specifically agrees that no officer or
employee of the local jurisdiction or its designees or agents, no member of the governing body,
and no other public official of the locality who exercises any function or responsibility with
respect to this Grant, during their tenure or for one year thereafter, shall have any interest, direct
or indirect, in any contract or subcontract, or the proceeds thereof, for work to be performed or
goods to be received, pursuant to this Grant.  Further, Grantee shall require all of its contractors
to incorporate in all subcontracts the language set forth in this paragraph prohibiting conflicts of
interest.

(vii) No funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the Grantee, to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of this or any agency or body in
connection with the awarding of any Third Party Obligation and that the Grantee shall require
certifying language prohibiting lobbying to be included in the award documents for all
subawards, including subcontracts, loans and cooperative agreements.  All subrecipients shall be
required to certify accordingly.

ARTICLE XI.  STRICT ACCOUNTABILITY OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS; PROJECT 
RECORDS 

A. The Grantee shall be strictly accountable for receipts and disbursements relating to the Project’s

funds. The Grantee shall follow generally accepted accounting principles, and, if feasible, maintain a separate 
bank account or fund with a separate organizational code, for the funds to assure separate budgeting and 
accounting of the funds. 

B. For a period of six (6) years following the Project's completion, the Grantee shall maintain all Project
related records, including, but not limited to, all financial records, requests for proposals, invitations to bid, 
selection and award criteria, contracts and subcontracts, advertisements, minutes of pertinent meetings, as well 
as records sufficient to fully account for the amount and disposition of the total funds from all sources budgeted 
for the Project, the purpose for which such funds were used, and such other records as the Department shall 
prescribe. 

C. The Grantee shall make all Project records available to the Department, the Department of Finance
and Administration, and the New Mexico State Auditor upon request.  With respect to the funds that are the 
subject of this Agreement, if the State Auditor or the Department of Finance and Administration finds that any 



Page 11 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

or all of these funds were improperly expended, the Grantee may be required to reimburse to the State of New 
Mexico, to the originating fund, any and all amounts found to be improperly expended.  

ARTICLE XII.  IMPROPERLY REIMBURSED FUNDS 

If the Department determines that part or all of the Appropriation Amount was improperly reimbursed to 
Grantee, including but not limited to, Project funds reimbursed to Grantee based upon fraud, mismanagement, 
misrepresentation, misuse, violation of law by the Grantee, or violation of this Agreement, the Grantee shall 
return such funds to the Department for disposition in accordance with law. 

ARTICLE XIII. LIABILITY 

Neither party shall be responsible for liability incurred as a result of the other party's acts or omissions in 
connection with this Agreement. Any liability incurred in connection with this Agreement is subject to 
immunities and limitations of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act. 

ARTICLE XIV.  SCOPE OF AGREEMENT 

This Agreement constitutes the entire and exclusive agreement between the Grantee and Department concerning 
the subject matter hereof. The Agreement supersedes any and all prior or contemporaneous agreements, 
understandings, discussions, communications, and representations, written or verbal. 

ARTICLE XV.  REQUIRED NON-APPROPRIATIONS CLAUSE IN CONTRACTS FUNDED IN 
WHOLE OR PART BY FUNDS MADE AVAILABLE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT 

The Grantee acknowledges, warrants, and agrees that Grantee shall include a “non-appropriations” clause in all 

contracts between it and other parties that are (i) funded in whole or part by funds made available under this 
Agreement and (ii) entered into after the effective date of this Agreement that states: 

“The terms of this Agreement are contingent upon sufficient appropriations and authorization being made by 

the Legislature of New Mexico for the performance of this Agreement. If sufficient appropriations and 
authorization are not made by the Legislature, the Sierra County may immediately terminate this Agreement 
by giving Contractor written notice of such termination. The Sierra County’s decision as to whether sufficient 
appropriations are available shall be accepted by the Contractor and shall be final. Contractor hereby waives 
any rights to assert an impairment of contract claim against the Sierra County or the Department of Finance 
and Administration or the State of New Mexico in the event of immediate or Early Termination of this 
Agreement by the Sierra County or the “Department.”   

ARTICLE XVI.  REQUIRED TERMINATION CLAUSE IN CONTRACTS FUNDED IN WHOLE OR 
PART BY FUNDS MADE AVAILABLE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT 

Grantee acknowledges, warrants, and agrees that Grantee shall include the following termination clause in all 
contracts that are (i) funded in whole or part by funds made available under this Agreement and (ii) entered into 
after the effective date of this Agreement: 



Page 12 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

“This contract is funded in whole or in part by funds made available under a Department of Finance and 
Administration Grant Agreement.  Should the Department of Finance and Administration early terminate the 
grant agreement, the Sierra County may early terminate this contract by providing Contractor written notice of 
such termination.  In the event of termination pursuant to this paragraph, the Sierra County only liability shall 
be to pay Contractor for acceptable goods delivered and services rendered before the termination date.”   

Grantee hereby waives any rights to assert an impairment of contract claim against the Department or the State 
of New Mexico in the event of Early Termination of this Agreement by the Department. 

ARTICLE XVII. COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORM FUNDING CRITERIA. 

A. Throughout the term of this Agreement, Grantee shall:
1. submit all reports of annual audits and agreed upon procedures required by Section 12-6-

3(A)-(B) NMSA 1978 by the due dates established in 2.2.2 NMAC, reports of which must be a public record 
pursuant to Section 12-6-5(A) NMSA 1978 within forty-five days of delivery to the State Auditor;  

2. have a duly adopted budget for the current fiscal year approved by its budgetary oversight
agency (if any); 

3. timely submit all required financial reports to its budgetary oversight agency (if any); and
4. have adequate accounting methods and procedures to expend grant funds in accordance

with applicable law and account for and safeguard grant funds and assets acquired by grant funds. 

B. In the event Grantee fails to comply with the requirements of Paragraph A of this Article XVII,
the Department may take one or more of the following actions: 

1. suspend new or further obligations pursuant to Article VI(A) of this Agreement;
2. require the Grantee to develop and implement a written corrective action plan pursuant to

Article VI(D) of this Agreement to remedy the non-compliance; 
3. impose special grant conditions to address the non-compliance by giving the Grantee

notice of such special conditions in accordance with Article III of this Agreement; the special conditions shall 
be binding and effective on the date that notice is deemed to have been given pursuant to Article III; or 

4. terminate this Agreement pursuant to Article V(A) of this Agreement.

ARTICLE XVIII.  [OPTIONAL IF THE APPROPRIATION IS FUNDED BY SEVERANCE TAX 
BONDS OR GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS] SEVERANCE TAX BOND AND GENERAL 
OBLIGATION BOND PROJECT CLAUSES 

A. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that the underlying appropriation for the Project is a severance tax
bond or general obligation bond appropriation, and that the associated bond proceeds are administered by the 
New Mexico State Board of Finance (SBOF), an entity separate and distinct from the Department.  Grantee 
acknowledges and agrees that (i) it is Grantee’s sole and absolute responsibility to determine through SBOF 
staff what (if any) conditions are currently imposed on the Project; (ii) the Department’s failure to inform 
Grantee of a SBOF imposed condition does not affect the validity or enforceability of the condition; (iii) the 
SBOF may in the future impose further or different conditions upon the Project; (iv) all SBOF conditions are 
effective without amendment of this Agreement; (v) all applicable SBOF conditions must be satisfied before the 
SBOF will release to the Department funds subject to the condition(s); and (vi) the Department’s obligation to 

reimburse Grantee from the Project is contingent upon the then current SBOF conditions being satisfied. 



Page 13 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

B. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that the SBOF may in its sole and absolute discretion remove a
project’s assigned bond proceeds if the project doesn’t proceed sufficiently. Entities must comply with the 

requirement to encumber five percent (5%) of Project funds within six months of bond issuance as certified by 
the grantee in the Bond Questionnaire and Certification documents submitted to the SBOF. Failure to comply 
may result in the bond proceeds reassignment to a new ready project. If this should occur this grant agreement 
will be suspended until the entity has demonstrated readiness as determined by the SBOF and the Department.  

C. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that this Agreement is subject to the SBOF’s Bond Project

Disbursements rule, NMAC 2.61.6, as may be amended or re-codified. The rule provides definitions and 
interpretations of grant language for the purpose of determining whether a particular activity is allowable under 
the authorizing language of the agreement.  

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY] 



Page 14 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the date of execution 
by the Department. 
GRANTEE 

___________________________________________ 
Signature of Official with Authority to Bind Grantee 

___________________________________________ 
Entity Name 

By: ________________________________________ 
 (Type or Print Name) 

Its: ________________________________________ 
(Type or Print Title) 

___________________________________________ 
Date 

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 

___________________________________________ 
By:  

Its: Division Director 

___________________________________________ 
Date 



I. Grantee Information II. Payment Computation
A. Payment Request No.

A. Grantee: B. Grant Amount:

B. Address: C. AIPP Amount (If Applicable) :

D. Funds Requested to Date:

E. Amount Requested this Payment:

F. Reversion Amount (If Applicable ):

G. Grant Balance:C. Contact Name/Phone #:

D. Grant No: H. GF   GOB    STB (attach wire if first draw )

E. Project Title: I. Final Request for Payment (if Applicable )

F.

(The State of NM Fiscal Year is July 1, 20XX through June 30, 20XX of the following year)

IV.

V.

Grantee Fiscal Officer     Grantee Representative  
or Fiscal Agent (if applicable )

Printed Name Printed Name

Date: Date:

Vendor Code: Fund No.: Loc No.:

I certify that the State Agency financial and vendor file information agree with the above submitted information.

Division Fiscal Officer Date Division Project Manager Date

(State Agency Use Only)

Reporting Certification: I hereby certify to the best of my knowledge and belief, that database reporting is up to date; to include the accuracy of 
expenditures and grant balance, project status, project phase, achievements and milestones; and in compliance with Article VIII of the Capital Outlay Grant 
Agreement.

III. Fiscal Year :

STATE OF NEW MEXICO 
CAPITAL GRANT PROJECT
 Request for Payment Form 

Exhibit 1

       (Make sure information is complete & accurate)

(Complete Mailing, including Suite, if applicable)

Grant Expiration Date:

Compliance Certification: Under penalty of law, I hereby certify to the best of my knowledge and belief, the above information is correct; 
expenditures are properly documented, and are valid expenditures or actual receipts; and that the grant activity is in full compliance with Article IX, Sec. 14 of the 
New Mexico Constitution known as the "anti donation" clause.

City, State, Zip

September 2014



NOTICE OF OBLIGATION TO REIMBURSE GRANTEE 
EXHIBIT 2

Notice of Obligation to Reimburse Grantee # ___________   

DATE: ____________________________ 

TO:   Department Representative: _____________________________, _________________________ 

FROM: Grantee Entity: _________________________________________________________________ 

Grantee Official Representative:_____________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Notice of Obligation to Reimburse Grantee      

Grant Number: ________________________________________________________________ 

Grant Termination Date: __________________________________________________________ 

As the designated representative of the Department for Grant Agreement number _________________________ 
entered into between Grantee and the Department, I certify that the Grantee has submitted to the Department the 
following third party obligation executed, in writing, by the third party’s authorized representative: 

Vendor or Contractor:  ___________________________________________________________ 

Third Party Obligation Amount: ___________________________________________________________ 

Vendor or Contractor:  ___________________________________________________________ 

Third Party Obligation Amount: ___________________________________________________________ 

I certify that the State is issuing this Notice of Obligation to Reimburse Grantee for permissible purposes within 
the scope of the project description, subject to all the terms and conditions of the above referenced Grant 
Agreement. 

Grant Amount (Minus AIPP if applicable):    ____________________________________ 

The Amount of this Notice of Obligation:     ____________________________________ 

The Total Amount of all Previously Issued Notices of Obligation:  ____________________________________ 

The Total Amount of all Notices of Obligation to Date:  ____________________________________ 

Note: Contract amounts may exceed the total grant amount, but the invoices paid by the grant will not exceed the grant amount. 

Department Rep. Approver: __________________________________________________________________ 

Title:  __________________________________________________________________ 

Signature: __________________________________________________________________ 

Date:  __________________________________________________________________ 

1 Administrative and/or Indirect Cost – generally, the legislation authorizing the issuance of bonds prohibits the use of its proceeds for 
indirect expenses (e.g. penalty fees or damages other than pay for work performed, attorney fees, and administrative fees).  Such use of 
bond proceeds shall not be allowed unless specifically authorized by statute. 



Page 1 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

STATE OF NEW MEXICO 
DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 

FUND 93100 CAPITAL APPROPRIATION PROJECT 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into by and between the Department Finance and 
Administration, State of New Mexico, Bataan Memorial Building, Room 202, Santa Fe, New Mexico, 87501, 
hereinafter called the “Department” or abbreviation such as “DFA/LGD”, and Sierra County, hereinafter 
called the “Grantee”.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the date it is executed by the Department. 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, in the Laws of 2023, Chapter 199, Section 28, Paragraph 459, the Legislature made an 
appropriation to the Department, funds from which the Department is making available to the Grantee pursuant 
to this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, the Department is granting to Grantee, and the Grantee is accepting the grant of, funds 
from this appropriation, in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Sections 9-6-5 and 9-6-5.1 NMSA 1978, the Secretary of the Department of Finance 
and Administration has the power and the authority to (i) maintain long-range estimates and plans for capital projects and 
develop standards for measuring the need for, and utility of, proposed projects; (ii) contract for, receive and 
utilize any grants or other financial assistance made available by the United States government or by any other 
source, public or private; (iii) provide planning and funding assistance to units of local government, council of 
government organizations, Indian tribal governments situated within New Mexico, and to nonprofit entities 
having for their purpose local, regional or community betterment; (iv) incident to any such programs, may enter 
into contracts and agreements with such units of local government, council of government organizations, Indian 
tribal governments, nonprofit entities and the federal government; and (v) delegate such authority to the Local 
Government Division as being necessary and appropriate to such delegation. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and obligations contained herein, the 
parties hereby mutually agree as follows:  

ARTICLE I.  PROJECT DESCRIPTION, AMOUNT OF GRANT AND REVERSION DATE 

A. The project that is the subject of this Agreement is described as follows:

23-H3213 $20,000.00 APPROPRIATION REVERSION DATE:  June 30, 2027 

Laws of 2023, Chapter 199, Section 28, Paragraph 459, Twenty Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents ($20,000.00), 
to plan, design, construct, furnish and equip a kennel building for the animal shelter in Truth or Consequences 
in Sierra county; 



Page 2 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

The Grantee’s total reimbursements shall not exceed Twenty Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents $20,000.00 (the 
“Appropriation Amount”) minus the allocation for Art in Public Places (“AIPP amount”)5, if applicable, Zero 
Dollars and Zero Cents $0.00, which equals Twenty Thousand Dollars and Zero Cents $20,000.00 (the 
“Adjusted Appropriation Amount”). 

In the event of a conflict among the Appropriation Amount, the Reversion Date, as defined herein and/or the 
purpose of the Project, as set forth in this Agreement, and the corresponding appropriation language in the laws 
cited above in this Article I(A), the language of the laws cited herein shall control.    

This project is referred to throughout the remainder of this Agreement as the “Project”; the information 

contained in Article I(A) is referred to collectively throughout the remainder of this Agreement as the “Project 

Description.”  [OPTIONAL LANGUAGE: “Optional Attachment A sets forth additional or more stringent 

requirements and conditions, which are incorporated by this reference as if set forth fully herein. If Optional 
Attachment A imposes more stringent requirements than any requirement set forth in this Agreement, the more 
stringent requirements of Attachment A shall prevail, in the event of irreconcilable conflict.] The Grantee shall 
reference the Project's number in all correspondence with and submissions to the Department concerning the 
Project, including, but not limited to, Requests for Payment and reports. 

ARTICLE II. LIMITATION ON DEPARTMENT’S OBLIGATION TO MAKE GRANT 

DISBURSEMENT TO GRANTEE  

A. Upon the Effective Date of this Agreement, for permissible purposes within the scope of the Project
Description, the Grantee shall only be reimbursed monies for which the Department has issued and the Grantee 
has received a Notice of Department’s Obligation to Reimburse6 Grantee (hereinafter referred to as “Notice of 

Obligation”).  This Grant Agreement and the disbursement of any and all amounts of the above referenced 

Adjusted Appropriation Amount are expressly conditioned upon the following: 
(i) Irrespective of any Notice of Obligation, the Grantee’s expenditures shall be made on or before the

Reversion Date and, if applicable, an Early Termination Date (i.e., the goods have been delivered and
accepted or the title to the goods has been transferred to the Grantee and/or the services have been
rendered for the Grantee); and

(ii) The total amount received by the Grantee shall not exceed the lesser of: (a) the Adjusted Appropriation
Amount identified in Article I(A) herein or (b) the total of all amounts stated in the Notice(s) of
Obligation evidencing that the Department has received and accepted the Grantee’s Third Party

Obligation(s), as defined in subparagraph iii of this Article II(A); and
(iii)The Grantee’s expenditures were made pursuant to the State Procurement Code and execution of binding

written obligations or purchase orders with third party contractors or vendors for the provision of
services, including professional services, or the purchase of tangible personal property and real property
for the Project, hereinafter referred to as “Third Party Obligations”; and

(iv) The Grantee’s submittal of timely Requests for Payment in accordance with the procedures set forth in

Article IX of this Agreement; and

5  The AIPP amount is “an amount of money equal to one percent or two hundred thousand dollars ($200,000), whichever is less, of 
the amount of money appropriated for new construction or any major renovation exceeding one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000).” 

Section 13-4A-4 NMSA 1978.  
6 “Reimburse” as used throughout this Agreement includes Department payments to the Grantee for invoices received, but not yet 

paid, by the Grantee from a third party contractor or vendor, if the invoices comply with the provisions of this Agreement and are a 
valid liability of the Grantee. 



Page 3 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

(v) In the event that capital assets acquired with Project funds are to be sold, leased, or licensed to or
operated by a private entity, the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement:

a. must be approved by the applicable oversight entity (if any) in accordance with law; or
b. if no oversight entity is required to approve the transaction, the Department must approve the

transaction as complying with law.
Prior to the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement being approved pursuant to Articles II(A)(v)(a) 
and II(A)(v)(b) herein, the Department may, in its sole and absolute discretion and unless inconsistent 
with State Board of Finance imposed conditions, reimburse the Grantee for necessary expenditures 
incurred to develop the Project sufficiently to make the sale, lease, license, or operating agreement 
commercially feasible, such as plan and design expenditures; and 

(vi) The Grantee’s submission of documentation of all Third Party Obligations and amendments thereto
(including terminations) to the Department and the Department’s issuance and the Grantee’s receiving of

a Notice of Obligation for a particular amount in accordance with the terms of this Agreement shall be
governed by the following:

a. The Grantee shall submit to the Department one copy of all Third Party Obligations and
amendments thereto (including terminations) as soon as possible after execution by the Third
Party but prior to execution by the Grantee.

b. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that if it chooses to enter into a Third Party Obligation prior
to receiving a Notice of Obligation that covers the expenditure, it is solely responsible for
such obligations.

c. The Department may, in its sole and absolute discretion, issue to Grantee a Notice of
Obligation for the particular amount of that Third Party Obligation that only obligates the
Department to reimburse Grantee’s expenditures made on or before the Reversion Date or an
Early Termination Date.  The current Notice of Obligation form is attached to this Agreement
as Exhibit 2.

d. The date the Department signs the Notice of Obligation is the date that the Department’s

Notice of Obligation is effective. After that date, the Grantee is authorized to budget the
particular amount set forth in the Notice of Obligation, execute the Third Party Obligation and
request the Third Party to begin work. Payment for any work performed or goods received
prior to the effective date of the Notice of Obligation is wholly and solely the obligation of the
Grantee.

B. The Grantee shall implement, in all respects, the Project. The Grantee shall provide all necessary
qualified personnel, material, and facilities to implement the Project. The Grantee shall finance its share (if any) 
of the costs of the Project, including all Project overruns. 

C. Project funds shall not be used for purposes other than those specified in the Project Description.

D. Unless specifically allowed by law, Project funds cannot be used to reimburse Grantee for indirect
Project costs. 

ARTICLE III.  NOTICE PROVISIONS AND GRANTEE AND DEPARTMENT DESIGNATED 
REPRESENTATIVES 

Whenever written notices, including written decisions, are to be given or received, related to this Agreement, 
the following provisions shall apply. 



Page 4 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

The Grantee designates the person(s) listed below, or their successor, as their official representative(s) 
concerning all matters related to this Agreement: 

Grantee: Sierra County   
Name: Amber Vaughn  
Title: County Manager 
Address: 1712 N. Date St., Suite D Truth or Consequences NM 87901 
Email: avaughn@sierraco.org   
Telephone: 575-894-6215

The Grantee designates the person(s) listed below, or their successor, as their Fiscal Officer or Fiscal Agent 
concerning all matters related to this Agreement: 

Grantee: Sierra County   
Name: Jay Armijo 
Title: Executive Director 
Address: PO Box 1072 Elephant Butte NM 87935 
Email: jarmijo@sccog-nm.com  
Telephone: 575-744-4857

The Department designates the persons listed below, or their successors, as the Points of Contact for matters 
related to this Agreement.  

Department: Department of Finance and Administration  
Name: Alison Gillette  
Title Project Manager 
Address: Bataan Memorial Blvd. Room 202, Santa Fe NM 87502 
Email: Alison.Gillette@dfa.nm.gov  
Telephone: 505-469-7811

The Grantee and the Department agree that either party shall send all notices, including written decisions, 
related to this Agreement to the above named persons by email or regular mail. In the case of mailings, notices 
shall be deemed to have been given and received upon the date of the receiving party’s actual receipt or five 

calendar days after mailing, whichever shall first occur. In the case of email transmissions, the notice shall be 
deemed to have been given and received on the date reflected on the delivery receipt of email.   

ARTICLE IV.  REVERSION DATE, TERM, DEADLINE TO EXPEND FUNDS 

A. As referenced in Article I(A), the applicable law establishes a date by which Project funds must be
expended by Grantee, which is referred to throughout the remainder of this Agreement as the “Reversion Date.”  

Upon being duly executed by both parties, this Agreement shall be effective as of the date of execution by the 
Department. It shall terminate on June 30, 2027 the Reversion Date unless Terminated Before Reversion Date 
(“Early Termination”) pursuant to Article V herein. 

mailto:avaughn@sierraco.org
mailto:jarmijo@sccog-nm.com
mailto:Alison.Gillette@dfa.nm.gov


Page 5 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

B. The Project’s funds must be expended on or before the Reversion Date and, if applicable, Early

Termination Date of this Agreement. For purposes of this Agreement, it is not sufficient for the Grantee to 
encumber the Project funds on its books on or before the Project's Reversion Date or Early Termination Date. 
Funds are expended and an expenditure has occurred as of the date that a particular quantity of goods are 
delivered to and received by the Grantee or title to the goods is transferred to the Grantee and/or as of the date 
particular services are rendered for the Grantee.  Funds are not expended and an expenditure has not occurred 
as of the date they are encumbered by the Grantee pursuant to a contract or purchase order with a third party.   

ARTICLE V. EARLY TERMINATION 

A. Early Termination Before Reversion Date Due to Completion of the Project or Complete
Expenditure of the Adjusted Appropriation or Violation of this Agreement  

Early Termination includes: 
(i) Termination due to completion of the Project before the Reversion Date; or
(ii) Termination due to complete expenditure of the Adjusted Appropriation Amount before the

Reversion Date; or
(iii) Termination for violation of the terms of this Agreement; or
(iv) Termination for suspected mishandling of public funds, including but not limited to, fraud, waste,

abuse, and conflicts of interest.

Either the Department or the Grantee may early terminate this Agreement prior to the Reversion Date by 
providing the other party with a minimum of fifteen (15) days’ advance, written notice of early termination. 

Grantee hereby waives any rights to assert an impairment of contract claim against the Department or the State 
of New Mexico in the event of Early Termination of this Agreement by the Department pursuant to Article 
V(A). 

B. Early Termination Before Reversion Date Due to Non-appropriation
The terms of this Agreement are expressly made contingent upon sufficient appropriations and

authorization being made by the Legislature of New Mexico for the performance of this Agreement.  
Throughout this Agreement the term “non-appropriate” or “non-appropriation” includes the following actions 

by the New Mexico Legislature:  deauthorization, reauthorization or revocation of a prior authorization.  The 
Legislature may choose to non-appropriate the Appropriation referred to in Article I and, if that occurs, the 
Department shall early terminate this Agreement for non-appropriation by giving the Grantee written notice of 
such termination, and such termination shall be effective as of the effective date of the law making the non-
appropriation. The Department’s decision as to whether sufficient appropriations or authorizations are available 

shall be accepted by the Grantee and shall be final. Grantee hereby waives any rights to assert an impairment of 
contract claim against the Department or the State of New Mexico in the event of Early Termination of this 
Agreement by the Department pursuant to Article V(B). 

C. Limitation on Department’s Obligation to Make Grant Disbursements to Grantee in the Event

of Early Termination 
In the event of Early Termination of this Agreement by either party, the Department’s sole and absolute 

obligation to reimburse the Grantee is expressly conditioned upon the limitations set forth Article II.  

ARTICLE VI. SUSPENSION OF NEW OR FURTHER OBLIGATIONS 



Page 6 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

A. The Department may choose, in its sole and absolute discretion, to provide written notice to the Grantee
to suspend entering into new and further obligations. Upon the receipt of such written notice by the Grantee: 

(i) The Grantee shall immediately suspend entering into new or further written obligations with third
parties; and

(ii) The Department will suspend the issuance of any new or further Notice of Obligation under this
Agreement; and

(iii) The Department may direct the Grantee to implement a corrective action plan in accordance with
Article VI(D) herein.

B. In the event of Suspension of this Agreement, the Department’s sole and absolute obligation to
reimburse the Grantee is expressly conditioned upon the limitations set forth in Article II herein. 

C. A suspension of new or further obligations under this Agreement shall remain in effect unless or until
the date the Grantee receives written notice given by the Department informing the Grantee that the Suspension 
has been lifted or that the Agreement has been Early Terminated in accordance with Article V herein.  If the 
Suspension is lifted, the Department will consider further requests for Notice of Obligation. 

D. Corrective Action Plan in the Event of Suspension
In the event that the Department chooses, in its sole and absolute discretion to direct the Grantee to suspend 

entering into new or further written obligations with third parties pursuant to Article VI(A), the Department 
may, but is not obligated to, require the Grantee to develop and implement a written corrective action plan to 
remedy the grounds for the Suspension. Such corrective action plan must be approved by the Department and be 
signed by the Grantee. Failure to sign a corrective action plan or meet the terms and deadlines set forth in the 
signed corrective action plan, is hereby deemed a violation of the terms of this Agreement for purposes of Early 
Termination, Article V(A)(iii). The corrective action plan is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other 
equitable or legal remedy, including but not limited to Early Termination. 

ARTICLE VII. AMENDMENT 

This Agreement shall not be altered, changed, or amended except by instrument in writing duly executed 
by both the parties hereto. 

ARTICLE VIII.  REPORTS 

A. Database Reporting
The Grantee shall report quarterly Project activity by entering such Project information as the Department and the

Department of Finance and Administration may require, such information entered directly into a database maintained by 
the Department of Finance and Administration (Budget & Formulation Management System). Additionally, the Grantee 
shall certify on the Request for Payment form (Exhibit 1) that updates have been maintained and are current in the 
database. The Grantee hereby acknowledges that failure to perform and/or certify updates into the database will delay or 
potentially jeopardize the reimbursement of funds. The Department shall give Grantee a minimum of thirty (30) days’ 

advance written notice of any changes to the information the Grantee is required to report.  

Quarterly reports shall be due on the last day of the month that is 30 days prior to the end of the quarter following 
execution of this Agreement by the Department and ending during the quarter of the submission of the final request for 
reimbursement for the Project, or the following quarter. 



Page 7 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

B. Requests for Additional Information/Project Inspection
During the term of this Agreement and during the period of time during which the Grantee must

maintain records pursuant to Article VIII, the Department may: 
(i) request such additional information regarding the Project as it deems necessary; and
(ii) conduct, at reasonable times and upon reasonable notice, onsite inspections of the Project.
Grantee shall respond to such requests for additional information within a reasonable period of time, as
established by the Department.



Page 8 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

ARTICLE IX. REQUEST FOR PAYMENT PROCEDURES AND DEADLINES 

A. The Grantee shall request payment by submitting a Request for Payment, in the form attached hereto
as Exhibit 1. Payment requests are subject to the following procedures: 

(i) The Grantee must submit a Request for Payment; and
(ii) Each Request for Payment must contain proof of payment by the Grantee or liabilities incurred by

the Grantee showing that the expenditures are valid or are liabilities incurred by the Grantee in
the form of actual unpaid invoices received by the Grantee for services rendered by a third party
or items of tangible personal property received by the Grantee for the implementation of the
Project; provided, however, that the Grantee may be reimbursed for unpaid liabilities only if the
Department, in its sole and absolute discretion, agrees to do so and in accordance with any special
conditions imposed by the Department.

(iii) In cases where the Grantee is submitting a Request for Payment to the Department based upon
invoices received, but not yet paid, by the Grantee from a third party contractor or vendor, if the
invoices comply with the provisions of this Agreement and are a valid liability of the Grantee, the
Grantee shall make payment to those contractors or vendors within five (5) business days from
the date of receiving reimbursement from the Department or such shorter period of time as the
Department may prescribe in writing. The Grantee is required to certify to the Department proof
of payment to the third party contractor or vendor within ten (10) business days from the date of
receiving reimbursement from the Department.

B. The Grantee must obligate 5% of the Adjusted Appropriation Amount within six months of
acceptance of the grant agreement and must have expended no less than 85% of the Adjusted
Appropriation Amount six months prior to the reversion date.

C. Deadlines
Requests for Payments shall be submitted by Grantee to the Department on the earlier of:

(i) Immediately as they are received by the Grantee but at a minimum thirty (30) days from when the
expenditure was incurred or liability of the Grantee was approved as evidenced by an unpaid
invoice received by the Grantee from a third party contractor or vendor; or

(ii) Twenty (20) days from date of Early Termination; or
(iii) Twenty (20) days from the Reversion Date.

D. The Grantee’s failure to abide by the requirements set forth in Article II and Article IX herein will

result in the denial of its Request for Payment or will delay the processing of Requests for Payment. The 
Department has the right to reject a payment request for the Project unless and until it is satisfied that the 
expenditures in the Request for Payment are for permissible purposes within the meaning of the Project 
Description and that the expenditures and the Grantee are otherwise in compliance with this Agreement, 
including but not limited to, compliance with the reporting requirements and the requirements set forth in 
Article II herein to provide Third Party Obligations and the Deadlines set forth in Article IX herein. The 
Department's ability to reject any Request for Payment is in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other legal or 
equitable remedy available to the Department due to Grantee's violation of this Agreement.  



Page 9 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

ARTICLE X.  PROJECT CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS; REPRESENTATIONS AND 
WARRANTIES 

A. The following general conditions and restrictions are applicable to the Project:
(i) The Project’s funds must be spent in accordance with all applicable state laws, regulations,

policies, and guidelines, including, but not limited to, the State Procurement Code (or local
procurement ordinance, where applicable).

(ii) The Project must be implemented in accordance with the New Mexico Public Works Minimum
Wage Act, Section 13-4-10 through 13-4-17 NMSA 1978, as applicable.  Every contract or
project in excess of sixty thousand dollars ($60,000) that the Grantee is a party to for
construction, alteration, demolition or repair or any combination of these, including painting and
decorating, of public buildings, public works or public roads and that requires or involves the
employment of mechanics, laborers or both shall contain a provision stating the minimum wages
and fringe benefits to be paid to various classes of laborers and mechanics, shall be based upon
the wages and benefits that will be determined by the New Mexico Department of Workforce
Solutions to be prevailing for the corresponding classes of laborers and mechanics employed on
contract work of a similar nature in the locality. Further, every contract or project shall contain a
stipulation that the contractor, subcontractor, employer or a person acting as a contractor shall
pay all mechanics and laborers employed on the site of the project, unconditionally and not less
often than once a week and without subsequent unlawful deduction or rebate on any account, the
full amounts accrued at time of payment computed at wage rates and fringe benefit rates not less
than those determined pursuant to Section 13-4-11 (B) NMSA 1978 to be the prevailing wage
rates and prevailing fringe benefit rates issued for the project.

(iii) The Project may only benefit private entities in accordance with applicable law, including, but
not limited to, Article IX, Section 14 of the Constitution of the State of New Mexico, the “Anti-
Donation Clause.”

(iv) The Grantee shall not for a period of 10 years  from the date of this agreement convert any
property acquired, built, renovated, repaired, designed or developed with the Project’s funds to

uses other than those specified in the Project Description without the Department's and the Board
of Finance’s express, advance, written approval, which may include a requirement to reimburse

the State for the cost of the project, transfer proceeds from the disposition of property to the
State, or otherwise provide consideration to the State.

(v) The Grantee shall comply with all federal and state laws, rules and regulations pertaining to
equal employment opportunity. In accordance with all such laws, rules and regulations the
Grantee agrees to assure that no person shall, on the grounds of race, color, national origin, sex,
sexual preference, age or handicap, be excluded from employment with Grantee, be excluded
from participation in the Project, be denied benefits or otherwise be subject to discrimination
under, any activity performed under this Agreement. If Grantee is found to be not in compliance
with these requirements during the life of this Agreement, Grantee agrees to take appropriate
steps to correct any deficiencies. The Grantee's failure to implement such appropriate steps
within a reasonable time constitutes grounds for terminating this Agreement.

B. The Grantee hereby represents and warrants the following:
(i) The Grantee has the legal authority to receive and expend the Project’s funds.



Page 10 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

(ii) This Agreement has been duly authorized by the Grantee, the person executing this Agreement
has authority to do so, and, once executed by the Grantee, this Agreement shall constitute a
binding obligation of the Grantee, enforceable according to its terms.

(iii) This Agreement and the Grantee's obligations hereunder do not conflict with any law or
ordinance or resolution applicable to the Grantee, the Grantee's charter (if applicable), or any
judgment or decree to which the Grantee is subject.

(iv) The Grantee has independently confirmed that the Project Description, including, but not limited
to, the amount and Reversion Date, is consistent with the underlying appropriation in law.

(v) The Grantee’s governing body has duly adopted or passed as an official act a resolution, motion,
or similar action authorizing the person identified as the official representative of the Grantee to
sign the Agreement and to sign Requests for Payment.

(vi) The Grantee shall abide by New Mexico laws regarding conflicts of interest, governmental
conduct and whistleblower protection.  The Grantee specifically agrees that no officer or
employee of the local jurisdiction or its designees or agents, no member of the governing body,
and no other public official of the locality who exercises any function or responsibility with
respect to this Grant, during their tenure or for one year thereafter, shall have any interest, direct
or indirect, in any contract or subcontract, or the proceeds thereof, for work to be performed or
goods to be received, pursuant to this Grant.  Further, Grantee shall require all of its contractors
to incorporate in all subcontracts the language set forth in this paragraph prohibiting conflicts of
interest.

(vii) No funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the Grantee, to any person for
influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of this or any agency or body in
connection with the awarding of any Third Party Obligation and that the Grantee shall require
certifying language prohibiting lobbying to be included in the award documents for all
subawards, including subcontracts, loans and cooperative agreements.  All subrecipients shall be
required to certify accordingly.

ARTICLE XI.  STRICT ACCOUNTABILITY OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS; PROJECT 
RECORDS 

A. The Grantee shall be strictly accountable for receipts and disbursements relating to the Project’s

funds. The Grantee shall follow generally accepted accounting principles, and, if feasible, maintain a separate 
bank account or fund with a separate organizational code, for the funds to assure separate budgeting and 
accounting of the funds. 

B. For a period of six (6) years following the Project's completion, the Grantee shall maintain all Project
related records, including, but not limited to, all financial records, requests for proposals, invitations to bid, 
selection and award criteria, contracts and subcontracts, advertisements, minutes of pertinent meetings, as well 
as records sufficient to fully account for the amount and disposition of the total funds from all sources budgeted 
for the Project, the purpose for which such funds were used, and such other records as the Department shall 
prescribe. 

C. The Grantee shall make all Project records available to the Department, the Department of Finance
and Administration, and the New Mexico State Auditor upon request.  With respect to the funds that are the 
subject of this Agreement, if the State Auditor or the Department of Finance and Administration finds that any 



Page 11 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

or all of these funds were improperly expended, the Grantee may be required to reimburse to the State of New 
Mexico, to the originating fund, any and all amounts found to be improperly expended.  

ARTICLE XII.  IMPROPERLY REIMBURSED FUNDS 

If the Department determines that part or all of the Appropriation Amount was improperly reimbursed to 
Grantee, including but not limited to, Project funds reimbursed to Grantee based upon fraud, mismanagement, 
misrepresentation, misuse, violation of law by the Grantee, or violation of this Agreement, the Grantee shall 
return such funds to the Department for disposition in accordance with law. 

ARTICLE XIII. LIABILITY 

Neither party shall be responsible for liability incurred as a result of the other party's acts or omissions in 
connection with this Agreement. Any liability incurred in connection with this Agreement is subject to 
immunities and limitations of the New Mexico Tort Claims Act. 

ARTICLE XIV.  SCOPE OF AGREEMENT 

This Agreement constitutes the entire and exclusive agreement between the Grantee and Department concerning 
the subject matter hereof. The Agreement supersedes any and all prior or contemporaneous agreements, 
understandings, discussions, communications, and representations, written or verbal. 

ARTICLE XV.  REQUIRED NON-APPROPRIATIONS CLAUSE IN CONTRACTS FUNDED IN 
WHOLE OR PART BY FUNDS MADE AVAILABLE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT 

The Grantee acknowledges, warrants, and agrees that Grantee shall include a “non-appropriations” clause in all 

contracts between it and other parties that are (i) funded in whole or part by funds made available under this 
Agreement and (ii) entered into after the effective date of this Agreement that states: 

“The terms of this Agreement are contingent upon sufficient appropriations and authorization being made by 

the Legislature of New Mexico for the performance of this Agreement. If sufficient appropriations and 
authorization are not made by the Legislature, the Sierra County may immediately terminate this Agreement 
by giving Contractor written notice of such termination. The Sierra County’s decision as to whether sufficient 
appropriations are available shall be accepted by the Contractor and shall be final. Contractor hereby waives 
any rights to assert an impairment of contract claim against the Sierra County or the Department of Finance 
and Administration or the State of New Mexico in the event of immediate or Early Termination of this 
Agreement by the Sierra County or the “Department.”   

ARTICLE XVI.  REQUIRED TERMINATION CLAUSE IN CONTRACTS FUNDED IN WHOLE OR 
PART BY FUNDS MADE AVAILABLE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT 

Grantee acknowledges, warrants, and agrees that Grantee shall include the following termination clause in all 
contracts that are (i) funded in whole or part by funds made available under this Agreement and (ii) entered into 
after the effective date of this Agreement: 



Page 12 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

“This contract is funded in whole or in part by funds made available under a Department of Finance and 
Administration Grant Agreement.  Should the Department of Finance and Administration early terminate the 
grant agreement, the Sierra County may early terminate this contract by providing Contractor written notice of 
such termination.  In the event of termination pursuant to this paragraph, the Sierra County only liability shall 
be to pay Contractor for acceptable goods delivered and services rendered before the termination date.”   

Grantee hereby waives any rights to assert an impairment of contract claim against the Department or the State 
of New Mexico in the event of Early Termination of this Agreement by the Department. 

ARTICLE XVII. COMPLIANCE WITH UNIFORM FUNDING CRITERIA. 

A. Throughout the term of this Agreement, Grantee shall:
1. submit all reports of annual audits and agreed upon procedures required by Section 12-6-

3(A)-(B) NMSA 1978 by the due dates established in 2.2.2 NMAC, reports of which must be a public record 
pursuant to Section 12-6-5(A) NMSA 1978 within forty-five days of delivery to the State Auditor;  

2. have a duly adopted budget for the current fiscal year approved by its budgetary oversight
agency (if any); 

3. timely submit all required financial reports to its budgetary oversight agency (if any); and
4. have adequate accounting methods and procedures to expend grant funds in accordance

with applicable law and account for and safeguard grant funds and assets acquired by grant funds. 

B. In the event Grantee fails to comply with the requirements of Paragraph A of this Article XVII,
the Department may take one or more of the following actions: 

1. suspend new or further obligations pursuant to Article VI(A) of this Agreement;
2. require the Grantee to develop and implement a written corrective action plan pursuant to

Article VI(D) of this Agreement to remedy the non-compliance; 
3. impose special grant conditions to address the non-compliance by giving the Grantee

notice of such special conditions in accordance with Article III of this Agreement; the special conditions shall 
be binding and effective on the date that notice is deemed to have been given pursuant to Article III; or 

4. terminate this Agreement pursuant to Article V(A) of this Agreement.

ARTICLE XVIII.  [OPTIONAL IF THE APPROPRIATION IS FUNDED BY SEVERANCE TAX 
BONDS OR GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS] SEVERANCE TAX BOND AND GENERAL 
OBLIGATION BOND PROJECT CLAUSES 

A. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that the underlying appropriation for the Project is a severance tax
bond or general obligation bond appropriation, and that the associated bond proceeds are administered by the 
New Mexico State Board of Finance (SBOF), an entity separate and distinct from the Department.  Grantee 
acknowledges and agrees that (i) it is Grantee’s sole and absolute responsibility to determine through SBOF 
staff what (if any) conditions are currently imposed on the Project; (ii) the Department’s failure to inform 
Grantee of a SBOF imposed condition does not affect the validity or enforceability of the condition; (iii) the 
SBOF may in the future impose further or different conditions upon the Project; (iv) all SBOF conditions are 
effective without amendment of this Agreement; (v) all applicable SBOF conditions must be satisfied before the 
SBOF will release to the Department funds subject to the condition(s); and (vi) the Department’s obligation to 

reimburse Grantee from the Project is contingent upon the then current SBOF conditions being satisfied. 



Page 13 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

B. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that the SBOF may in its sole and absolute discretion remove a
project’s assigned bond proceeds if the project doesn’t proceed sufficiently. Entities must comply with the 

requirement to encumber five percent (5%) of Project funds within six months of bond issuance as certified by 
the grantee in the Bond Questionnaire and Certification documents submitted to the SBOF. Failure to comply 
may result in the bond proceeds reassignment to a new ready project. If this should occur this grant agreement 
will be suspended until the entity has demonstrated readiness as determined by the SBOF and the Department.  

C. Grantee acknowledges and agrees that this Agreement is subject to the SBOF’s Bond Project

Disbursements rule, NMAC 2.61.6, as may be amended or re-codified. The rule provides definitions and 
interpretations of grant language for the purpose of determining whether a particular activity is allowable under 
the authorizing language of the agreement.  

[THIS SPACE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY] 



Page 14 of 14 Revised 5-11-23 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the date of execution 
by the Department. 
GRANTEE 

___________________________________________ 
Signature of Official with Authority to Bind Grantee 

___________________________________________ 
Entity Name 

By: ________________________________________ 
 (Type or Print Name) 

Its: ________________________________________ 
(Type or Print Title) 

___________________________________________ 
Date 

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 

___________________________________________ 
By:  

Its: Division Director 

___________________________________________ 
Date 



I. Grantee Information II. Payment Computation
A. Payment Request No.

A. Grantee: B. Grant Amount:

B. Address: C. AIPP Amount (If Applicable) :

D. Funds Requested to Date:

E. Amount Requested this Payment:

F. Reversion Amount (If Applicable ):

G. Grant Balance:C. Contact Name/Phone #:

D. Grant No: H. GF   GOB    STB (attach wire if first draw )

E. Project Title: I. Final Request for Payment (if Applicable )

F.

(The State of NM Fiscal Year is July 1, 20XX through June 30, 20XX of the following year)

IV.

V.

Grantee Fiscal Officer     Grantee Representative  
or Fiscal Agent (if applicable )

Printed Name Printed Name

Date: Date:

Vendor Code: Fund No.: Loc No.:

I certify that the State Agency financial and vendor file information agree with the above submitted information.

Division Fiscal Officer Date Division Project Manager Date

(State Agency Use Only)

Reporting Certification: I hereby certify to the best of my knowledge and belief, that database reporting is up to date; to include the accuracy of 
expenditures and grant balance, project status, project phase, achievements and milestones; and in compliance with Article VIII of the Capital Outlay Grant 
Agreement.

III. Fiscal Year :

STATE OF NEW MEXICO 
CAPITAL GRANT PROJECT
 Request for Payment Form 

Exhibit 1

       (Make sure information is complete & accurate)

(Complete Mailing, including Suite, if applicable)

Grant Expiration Date:

Compliance Certification: Under penalty of law, I hereby certify to the best of my knowledge and belief, the above information is correct; 
expenditures are properly documented, and are valid expenditures or actual receipts; and that the grant activity is in full compliance with Article IX, Sec. 14 of the 
New Mexico Constitution known as the "anti donation" clause.

City, State, Zip

September 2014



NOTICE OF OBLIGATION TO REIMBURSE GRANTEE 
EXHIBIT 2

Notice of Obligation to Reimburse Grantee # ___________   

DATE: ____________________________ 

TO:   Department Representative: _____________________________, _________________________ 

FROM: Grantee Entity: _________________________________________________________________ 

Grantee Official Representative:_____________________________________________________ 

SUBJECT: Notice of Obligation to Reimburse Grantee      

Grant Number: ________________________________________________________________ 

Grant Termination Date: __________________________________________________________ 

As the designated representative of the Department for Grant Agreement number _________________________ 
entered into between Grantee and the Department, I certify that the Grantee has submitted to the Department the 
following third party obligation executed, in writing, by the third party’s authorized representative: 

Vendor or Contractor:  ___________________________________________________________ 

Third Party Obligation Amount: ___________________________________________________________ 

Vendor or Contractor:  ___________________________________________________________ 

Third Party Obligation Amount: ___________________________________________________________ 

I certify that the State is issuing this Notice of Obligation to Reimburse Grantee for permissible purposes within 
the scope of the project description, subject to all the terms and conditions of the above referenced Grant 
Agreement. 

Grant Amount (Minus AIPP if applicable):    ____________________________________ 

The Amount of this Notice of Obligation:     ____________________________________ 

The Total Amount of all Previously Issued Notices of Obligation:  ____________________________________ 

The Total Amount of all Notices of Obligation to Date:  ____________________________________ 

Note: Contract amounts may exceed the total grant amount, but the invoices paid by the grant will not exceed the grant amount. 

Department Rep. Approver: __________________________________________________________________ 

Title:  __________________________________________________________________ 

Signature: __________________________________________________________________ 

Date:  __________________________________________________________________ 

1 Administrative and/or Indirect Cost – generally, the legislation authorizing the issuance of bonds prohibits the use of its proceeds for 
indirect expenses (e.g. penalty fees or damages other than pay for work performed, attorney fees, and administrative fees).  Such use of 
bond proceeds shall not be allowed unless specifically authorized by statute. 



2024-_____ 

1 
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
 
 

This Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the Administrative Office of the Courts 
(AOC) and the County of Sierra (COUNTY) is hereby entered into for the purpose of supporting 
an innovative cross-system collaboration for individuals with mental illnesses or co-occurring 
mental health and substance abuse disorders who come into contact with the justice system. 
 
WHEREAS, the AOC and the COUNTY mutually support the goal of the Justice and Mental 
Health Collaboration Program (JMHCP), which is to increase public safety by facilitating 
collaboration among the criminal justice and mental health and substance abuse treatment systems 
to increase access to mental health and other treatment services for individuals with mental 
illnesses or co-occurring mental health and substance abuse disorders. The programs encourage 
early intervention for these multisystem-involved individuals with mental illnesses or co-occurring 
mental and substance abuse disorders; promote training for justice and treatment professionals; 
and facilitate communication, collaboration, and the delivery of support services among justice 
professionals, treatment and related service providers, and governmental partners, and; 
 
WHEREAS, the COUNTY has identified a need for a collaborative project between criminal 
justice and mental health partners to plan, implement, or expand a justice and mental health 
collaboration program, and; 
 
WHEREAS, the AOC desires to enter into an agreement with the COUNTY for the COUNTY’s 
portion of the JMHCP funding, and to reimburse the COUNTY for approved expenditures in 
support of their collaboration program, and; 
 
WHEREAS, the COUNTY desires reimbursement for costs related to the ongoing operation of 
their collaboration program; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and obligations stated in this Agreement, 
the parties mutually agree to the following: 
 
I.  TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT 
 

A. This MOU will be effective on the date signed and executed by the duly authorized 
representatives of the parties to this MOU and will terminate on September 30, 
2024. 

B. Any amendments to this Agreement shall be made in writing and shall be agreed to 
and executed by the respective parties before becoming effective. 

 
II.  RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE PARTIES 
 

A. The AOC will: 
 

1. Reimburse the COUNTY up to one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000.00) 
for completed tasks, as outlined in the COUNTY’s pilot project application 



2024-_____ 

2 
 

(Attachment A), during the pilot project period and not after the term of this 
MOU. 
 

2. Authorize reimbursement, upon submission of the required documentation, 
provided that expenditures are within the cost category and monetary 
constraints of the COUNTY’s pilot project application and budget 
(Attachment A). 
 

3. Provide the COUNTY access to a module within the Datagain, Inc. Drug 
Information Management System (DIMS) so that performance metrics may 
be analyzed to determine if target goals and objectives are being met. 
 

4. Provide the COUNTY with technical assistance support, as well as, 
coordinate the provision of technical assistance support to the COUNTY by 
the JMHCP technical assistance provider, The Council of State 
Governments Justice Center. 
 

5. Coordinate the provision of technical assistance support related to program 
evaluation to the COUNTY by the contracted team from the National Center 
for State Courts. 
 

6. Monitor the activities of the sub-recipient, the COUNTY, as necessary to 
ensure  that the sub-award is used for the authorized purposes, in 
compliance with Federal statutes, regulations, and the terms and conditions 
of the sub-award; 

 
B. The COUNTY will: 

 
1. Pay for all costs related to the ongoing operation of their collaborative 

project, as detailed in the COUNTY’s application budget (Attachment A). 
 

2. Submit requests for reimbursement (RFR) to the AOC Statewide Program 
Manager for which expenditures have been incurred. RFR’s will be in the 
form of an invoice on the court’s letterhead, specifying the reimbursement 
amount requested and shall include chart field information (Business Unit, 
Fund, Department, Account, and Sub-Account (if appropriate)) for 
operating transfer purposes. In addition, the COUNTY shall provide the 
following supporting documentation with each RFR: vendor invoices, 
payment vouchers, and copies of warrant remittances. The warrants must 
be issued prior to requesting reimbursement. 

 
3. Utilize the module within the Datagain, Inc. Drug Information Management 

System (DIMS) to enter performance metrics to determine if target goals 
and objectives are being met. 

 



2024-_____ 

3 
 

4. Use the funds associated with this MOU to supplement, but not supplant, 
the COUNTY’s existing base budget and/or federal funds detailed in the 
application budget (Attachment A). 

 
5. Strictly account for all financial records of their collaborative project 

relating to this MOU and shall maintain these financial records during the 
term of this MOU and for three years after the termination date. On request, 
the COUNTY shall make available all financial records to the AOC and 
shall allow the AOC to inspect or audit these financial records during 
business hours at the location of the COUNTY in which the financial 
records reside. If the financial records provided by the COUNTY are 
insufficient to support an audit by customary accounting practices, the AOC 
Statewide Program Manager will hold any further RFR’s from processing 
until such financial records can be produced. 

 
6. Provide current Unique Entity Identification (UEI) to AOC. 

 
III.  APPROPRIATIONS 
 

The terms of this MOU are contingent upon sufficient funding and authorization being 
made by the US Department of Justice – Bureau of Justice Assistance. If sufficient funding 
and authorization are not made by the US Department of Justice – Bureau of Justice 
Assistance, this MOU shall terminate immediately upon written notice being given by the 
AOC to the COUNTY. The AOC’s decision as to whether sufficient funding is available 
shall be accepted by the COUNTY and shall be final. If the AOC proposes an amendment 
to the MOU to unilaterally reduce funding, the COUNTY shall have the option to terminate 
the MOU or to agree to the reduced funding, within thirty (30) days of the receipt of the 
proposed amendment. 

 
Attachment: 
 
A. Pilot Project Application 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2024-_____ 

4 
 

BY THE SIGNATURES below of the authorized officers, the parties do agree to this 
Memorandum of Understanding. 
 
 
NEW MEXICO ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE OF THE COURTS 
 
 
 
By: _______________________________     Date: __________________ 
       Arthur W. Pepin, Director 
 
 
 
Approved: __________________________     Date: __________________ 
       Celina Jones, General Counsel 
 
 
BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSONERS 
 
SIERRA COUNTY 
 
 
 
By: ________________________________    Date: ___________________ 
       James Paxon, Commission Chairperson 
 
 
 


	Sierra County 23-H3208 Grant Agreement_NEEDS SIGNATURE.pdf
	Exhibit 2 - Notice of Obligation (rev. 4-13-23).pdf
	NOTICE OF OBLIGATION TO REIMBURSE GRANTEE
	EXHIBIT 2
	Alternative fiscal agent
	ATTACHMENT (?)
	ATTACHMENT (?)
	SPECIAL CONDITIONS


	Sierra County 23-H2309 Grant Agreement_NEEDS SIGNATURE.pdf
	Exhibit 2 - Notice of Obligation (rev. 4-13-23).pdf
	NOTICE OF OBLIGATION TO REIMBURSE GRANTEE
	EXHIBIT 2
	Alternative fiscal agent
	ATTACHMENT (?)
	ATTACHMENT (?)
	SPECIAL CONDITIONS


	Sierra County 23-H3212 Grant Agreement_NEEDS SIGNATURE.pdf
	Exhibit 2 - Notice of Obligation (rev. 4-13-23).pdf
	NOTICE OF OBLIGATION TO REIMBURSE GRANTEE
	EXHIBIT 2
	Alternative fiscal agent
	ATTACHMENT (?)
	ATTACHMENT (?)
	SPECIAL CONDITIONS


	Sierra County 23-H3213 Grant Agreement_NEEDS SIGNATURE.pdf
	Exhibit 2 - Notice of Obligation (rev. 4-13-23).pdf
	NOTICE OF OBLIGATION TO REIMBURSE GRANTEE
	EXHIBIT 2
	Alternative fiscal agent
	ATTACHMENT (?)
	ATTACHMENT (?)
	SPECIAL CONDITIONS



	Date1_af_date: 
	Date2_af_date: 
	Date3_af_date: 
	Date4_af_date: 
	Grant Number: 
	Department Representative: 
	Representative Title: Project Manager
	Make sure information is complete  accurate: 
	1: 
	GrantAmount: 0
	undefined: 
	AIPP: 0
	FundsRequestedToDate: 0
	Complete Mailing including Suite if applicable: 
	AmountRequestedthisPayment: 0
	1_2: 
	2_2: 
	3: 
	Reversion: 0
	Balance: 0
	Grant Expiration Date: 
	Printed Name: 
	Printed Name_2: 
	Vendor Code: 
	Fund No: 
	Loc No: 
	Check Box4: Off
	Check Box5: Off
	Check Box6: Off
	Check Box7: Off
	Check Box8: Off
	Check Box9: Off
	FY: [2024 (July 1, 2023-June 30, 2024)]
	Notice of Obligation to Reimburse Grantee: 
	DATE: 
	Grantee Entity: 
	Grantee Official Representative: 
	Grant Termination Date: 
	following third party obligation executed in writing by the third partys authorized representative: 
	Third Party Obligation Amount: 
	undefined_2: 
	Third Party Obligation Amount_2: 
	Grant Amount: 
	This NOO: 
	Previous NOO: 
	Total NOO: 0


